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>>Committee commenced at 13:30

Chairperson (Ms. Angnakak): Good
afternoon, everybody. (interpretation)
Welcome. Before we begin, | would like
to ask Mr. Qirngnuq to say the opening
prayer.
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>>Prayer

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Welcome,
everybody. Good afternoon and thank
you for being here with us today.

Before proceeding, |1 ask Members,
witnesses, and visitors to put their
cellphones, BlackBerrys, and other
electronic devices on silent mode, please.

I would like to formally welcome
everyone present to this meeting of the
Legislative Assembly’s Standing
Committee on Public Accounts,
Independent Officers and Other Entities.
We are meeting today on the occasion of
our Standing Committee’s televised
hearing on the 2015-16 annual report to
the Legislative Assembly of the
Information and Privacy Commissioner
of Nunavut, Ms. Elaine Keenan Bengts.

I would first like to introduce my
Standing Committee colleagues:

e Tony Akoak, Member for Gjoa
Haven;

e Joe Enook, Member for Tununig;

e David Joanasie, Member for South
Baffin;

e Steve Mapsalak, Member for Aivilik;

e Simeon Mikkungwak, Member for
Baker Lake;

e Paul Okalik, Member for Igaluit-
Sinaa;

e Emiliano Qirngnug, Member for
Netsilik;

e Allan Rumbolt, Member for Hudson
Bay;

e Alexander Sammurtok, Member for
Rankin Inlet South;

e Tom Sammurtok, Member for Rankin
Inlet North-Chesterfield Inlet; and

e Isaac Shooyook, Member for
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Quittiktug.

As an independent officer of the House,
the Information and Privacy
Commissioner is required to prepare and
submit an annual report to the Legislative
Assembly.

The Access to Information and
Protection of Privacy Act exists to
achieve two broad goals: ensuring that
the public has access to government
information while preventing the
unauthorized use or disclosure of
personal information held by government
departments and other public bodies. The
Information and Privacy Commissioner
plays a key role in maintaining this
balance.

In addition to providing independent
reviews of decisions made by public
bodies concerning requests made under
the legislation, the Information and
Privacy Commissioner may offer formal
comments on proposed legislation, as
well as providing public education on the
principles of the Access to Information
and Protection of Privacy Act.

Ms. Elaine Keenan Bengts was appointed
Nunavut’s first Information and Privacy
Commissioner in 1999. She was
reappointed in February of this year for a
fourth five-year term of office.

I would also like to note for the record
that she has served as the Information
and Privacy Commissioner of the
Northwest Territories since 1996, when
that jurisdiction’s legislation originally
came into effect.

The Information and Privacy
Commissioner’s most recent appearance
before this Standing Committee took
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place on September 28, 2015 on the
occasion of our televised hearing on her
2014-15 annual report to the Legislative
Assembly.

Officials from the Government of
Nunavut’s Department of Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs and
Department of Justice subsequently
appeared before the Standing Committee.

The Standing Committee’s report on its
hearing was subsequently presented to
the Legislative Assembly on November
4, 2015. The Government of Nunavut’s
response to the Standing Committee’s
report was tabled in the Legislative
Assembly on March 15, 2016. The
Minister of Family Services tabled his
department’s updated response to the
Standing Committee’s report on June 7,
2016.

The Information and Privacy
Commissioner’s 2015-16 annual report
was backdoor tabled under the provisions
of Rule 44(2) of the Rules of the
Legislative Assembly of Nunavut on July
24, 2016. 1t will be formally tabled in the
House during the upcoming fall sitting of
the House.

The Government of Nunavut’s
Department of Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs has
overarching responsibility for the
government’s administration of the
Access to Information and Protection of
Privacy Act. The government’s 2014-15
annual report on the administration of the
Access to Information and Protection of
Privacy Act was tabled in the Legislative
Assembly on November 3, 2015.

Amendments to the Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy
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Act were passed by the Legislative
Assembly in 2012 and came into force in
May of 2013. These amendments provide
the Information and Privacy
Commissioner with clear authority to
undertake privacy-related reviews
concerning personal information held by
public bodies. The amendments also
establish a statutory requirement for
public bodies to notify her office where a
material breach of privacy has occurred
with respect to personal information
under their control. The Government of
Nunavut’s Department of Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs has recently
produced a formal Privacy Breach and
Incident Policy.

Amendments to the Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy
Regulations were published in the April
2015 edition of Part Il of the Nunavut
Gazette. The most significant amendment
is the inclusion of housing associations
and housing authorities under the
definition of “public body.” This means
that the Access to Information and
Protection of Privacy Act now applies to
local housing organizations. This is an
issue that received considerable attention
during the Standing Committee’s 2015
televised hearing.

In recent years, a number of important
themes and issues have emerged during
consideration of the Information and
Privacy Commissioner’s annual reports
to the Legislative Assembly. These
include:

e Public disclosure of contracting,
procurement and leasing activities
undertaken by Government of
Nunavut departments, Crown
agencies, and territorial corporations;

e The application of access to
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information and protection of privacy
legislation to municipalities;

e The management of electronic health
records and the development of
health-specific privacy legislation;
and

e The application of access to
information and protection of privacy
legislation to district education
authorities.

During the Standing Committee’s 2015
televised hearing to review the 2014-15
annual report of the Information and
Privacy Commissioner, Members raised
concerns regarding the disclosure
practices of the Nunavut Business Credit
Corporation. At that time, the
Information and Privacy Commissioner
indicated that “in most cases, the entity,
whether it’s an individual or a company
who receives money from a government
agency, whether it’s by way of a loan or a
grant or any other form, should be
disclosed.”

During the Standing Committee’s 2015
televised hearing to review the most
recent annual reports and corporate plans
of the Nunavut Business Credit
Corporation, Members took the
opportunity to raise these concerns with
the corporation. In its subsequent report
to the Legislative Assembly, the Standing
Committee recommended that the
Nunavut Business Credit Corporation
“fully disclose the identities of recipients
of loans and other financial assistance
provided to recipients.” In its response,
the government indicated that, at that
time, it wished to seek a formal review
and ruling from the Information and
Privacy Commissioner.

Today’s televised hearing provides an
opportunity for the Information and
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Privacy Commissioner’s observations,
concerns, and recommendations to be
discussed in public. The Standing
Committee looks forward to a productive
exchange this afternoon with the
Information and Privacy Commissioner.

Tomorrow morning, senior officials from
the Government of Nunavut will appear
before the standing committee to publicly
account for the government’s actions in
response to recommendations from the
Information and Privacy Commissioner
and standing committees of the
Legislative Assembly.

This hearing is being televised live across
Nunavut on local community cable
stations and direct-to-home satellite
service. Transcripts of the hearing will be
posted on the Legislative Assembly’s
website.

In keeping with parliamentary practice,
the Standing Committee anticipates
reporting its findings and
recommendations to the Legislative
Assembly during the upcoming fall
sitting. Under Rule 91(5) of the Rules of
the Legislative Assembly, the
government will be required to table a
formal response to our report within 120
days of its presentation.

I would like to conclude by addressing
some housekeeping matters.

For the benefit of our recording system, |
ask witnesses to wait until I invite you to
speak before activating your microphone.

I also ask witnesses to always go through
the Chair when responding to Members’
questions and interventions.

Members of the Standing Committee
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have been provided with a number of
reports and other documents for their
ease of reference during this hearing. For
the benefit of our witnesses and
interpreters, |1 ask Members to be precise
when quoting from or making reference
to specific documents.

With that, 1 will again welcome the
Information and Privacy Commissioner
to this hearing and invite her to make her
opening statement. Thank you very
much.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Good afternoon, everybody.
I am pleased to once again be able to
appear before you to update you on the
activities of my office during the 2015-16
fiscal year.

| feel like a bit of a broken record when,
during each of my appearances before
this Committee, | report that it has been a
busy year. Once again, | received a
record number of requests for review. In
addition, however, | have undertaken a
number of projects that address more
systemic issues and which are, therefore,
far more time-consuming to deal with. In
2015-16, my office opened a total of 34
files from Nunavut, a 40 percent increase
from the number of files opened in the
previous year. The number of
recommendations issued, however, was
down from a record 18 in 2014-151t0 7 in
2015-16.

Once again, the majority of the files
which came to my office were requests
that I review the responses received to
access to information requests. | also
received five breach notifications from
public bodies under the new breach
notification provisions of the Act,
advising me of breaches of privacy by
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departments. Of these, most were dealt
with without any report or
recommendation being issued by my
office because | was satisfied that the
public body had addressed the issues
appropriately.

In addition to the breach notifications that
came directly from public bodies, there
were three additional complaints about
breaches of privacy from individuals who
felt that their personal information had
been improperly collected, used, or
disclosed. Seven of the files opened were
in relation to proposed new legislation for
which the public body was seeking my
input or | undertook to provide input of
my own accord.

A lot of time was spent this year
attempting to address the
recommendations of this Committee
arising out of my appearance last year.
As noted in my annual report, | made
every effort to address all of the
recommendations made, but time
limitations and keeping up to date on the
day-to-day work of the office meant |
was not successful in completing all of
the projects recommended. This said, |
am actually quite pleased with what | was
able to accomplish given that the
Committee’s report did not come out
until November.

One of the recommendations made was
that, in addition to posting my review
recommendations on my website, | also
include the public body’s response to
each recommendation. By way of brief
background, when | complete an
investigation, | am required to provide a
written report and make
recommendations to the head of a public
body. Those reports are published on my
website. The head of a public body who
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receives one of these reports must
provide a written decision indicating
either acceptance of the
recommendations made or such other
decisions as he or she deems appropriate.

Once that decision is made, however,
there is nothing in the Act which allows
the public to see whether or not the
recommendations have been accepted nor
is there anything that gives the public the
ability to follow up to ensure that the
public bodies have done what they have
indicated they will do.

This has now been partially rectified in
the posting of the responses made. | went
back through all of my Nunavut files
since 2000, pulled the responses received
to each review recommendation, and
posted it immediately under the review
recommendation on my website. This
was a huge undertaking going back 16
years and some 100 reviews, but it will
now be easy to keep up to date and
current. This will help to promote an
increased ability for the public to follow
up and demand accountability.

Another important task given to me by
this Committee last year was to undertake
a comprehensive review of the Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy
Act and to provide my comments and
recommendations for appropriate
amendments. As noted in my annual
report, this recommendation was both
timely and welcome.

The Act is now some 20 years old and
the way government does business has
changed dramatically during that time.
Most Canadian jurisdictions, in fact, have
been going through a similar review in
recent years.
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It is important to me, being given the
opportunity, that my review be
comprehensive, thorough, and complete.
As a result, while the project is well
underway, | simply could not get it done
by September 1, which was the date
suggested by this Committee. My goal is
to have it completed before the end of
this fiscal year. My actual goal is really
the end of this calendar year, but I’m also
trying to be realistic and not promise
beyond my means.

The Committee also encouraged me to
undertake at least one formal privacy
audit of a GN department in 2015-16. |
chose the Qikigtani Hospital for this
review largely because it is a large public
body which collects large quantities of
the most sensitive personal information
about Nunavummiut. In order to do a
thorough and effective job of this, my
first privacy audit, | engaged the services
of Robert Gary Dickson, the former
Information and Privacy Commissioner
of Saskatchewan and one of Canada’s
pre-eminent experts in health privacy
law, to assist me.

We did a lot of preparatory work,
including collecting as much information
was we could about existing privacy
policies and procedures. In June, we
spent four days meeting with the
managers of the various departments in
the hospital and others. The exercise was
well worth the effort and we were able to
identify some current gaps in policies and
procedures. We were also able to engage
in some very helpful discussions with
hospital staff with a view to how to make
positive changes.

I was hoping to be able to bring the final
report with me this week, but it still
needs a little bit of work and to be
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translated. It should be finalized by the
end of this month. While I don’t want to
give too much away before the report is
finalized, it will not come as a surprise to
anyone who has read any of my annual
reports over the years that one of the
major recommendations that you can
expect in this report is that steps should
be taken as soon as possible to develop
health-specific privacy legislation.

I am also very excited to announce that |
have invited my counterparts from across
the country to Igaluit for our annual
gathering in the fall of 2017. The last
time we met in Igaluit was about 10 years
ago and | am excited to be able to once
again showcase this city and this
territory.

I also wanted to share with you what |
personally consider to be a very exciting
development which, after many
discussions with IT experts over several
years, has just recently come to fruition.
Because | am a resident in Yellowknife,
it has sometimes proven quite difficult to
get the written materials | need to
complete my reviews. In many cases, |
receive numerous bankers’ boxes full of
sensitive documents in the mail or by
courier for my review. Recently, one
public body put thousands of pages of
responsive records on an unencrypted
jump drive and mailed it to me. When it
arrived in my office, the envelope was
battered and torn and the jump drive was
missing.

As a result of these kinds of incidents, we
have been looking for some time for a

secure online vehicle for the exchange of
records. As of last month, we now have a
secure portal solution which allows me to
create a channel for every review file my
office opens. This solution allows only
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those | invite to participate in the channel
to have access to the portal. Public bodies
can now securely upload all records to
this portal instead of putting them in
boxes or on jump drives and sending
them to me by mail or courier.

While this may not seem earth-shattering
or significant to this Committee or
anybody else, this new system is going to
make communications more timely and
efficient and will avoid the possibility of
having sensitive records being lost or
misdirected while, at the same time,
giving us the security that is required for
such communications. For me and for all
of the ATIPP coordinators in public
bodies, it is a huge advancement that will
make our work much easier. | would like
to thank William MacDonald with the
Legislative Assembly for making this
work for us.

In closing, | would like to address briefly
some of the discussions | have been
having with the Clerks of the Legislative
Assemblies of both Nunavut and the
Northwest Territories about the needs of
this office in terms of personnel. For a
number of reasons, | am seeking to add a
full-time position of assistant
commissioner/investigator to the staff of
this office. While it has been efficient and
expedient to have one person act in the
role as Information and Privacy
Commissioner in both jurisdictions, as
you can see from my annual reports over
time and these opening remarks, the
workload is becoming such that | am
struggling to meet all of my obligations
in both jurisdictions.

In most jurisdictions, the average file
load for a full-time investigator is about
30 files. In fiscal 2015-16, | opened a
total of 77 files between the two
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jurisdictions. Finding the necessary time
to meet all of my responsibilities has
become an issue, even with the transition
to a more full-time position. Furthermore,
| feel that it is important that we begin to
plan for a transition for the position of
Information and Privacy Commissioner
to a full-time position located in Nunavut
with appropriate office staff and office
space by 2020, when my current term
expires.

As a first step, | have recommended to
the Legislative Assemblies of the two
territories that we create a position to be
filled in the 2017-18 fiscal year for a
deputy commissioner/investigator with
duties in both the Northwest Territories
and Nunavut. | take this opportunity to
urge this jurisdiction to start planning to
create both the infrastructure and the
budget necessary to expand the office,
with a first step being to include this full-
time position of deputy
commissioner/investigator.

Thank you and I would be happy to
answer any questions you might have.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Very informative. Before | open
up to questions of the annual report, are
there any questions or any kind of
comments to her opening comments? Mr.
Okalik.

Mr. Okalik (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. | am the only one
here on this side of the House, so please
make sure you look in this direction.

I would like to welcome the
commissioner to Nunavut and also for the
recommendations to expand the office
and to open an office in Nunavut. | would
like to ask the commissioner how we, as
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the Standing Committee, can help you to
make that a reality. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Okalik.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | think that by me being
here and being able to discuss this issue
with you, | am putting it in your heads.
I’m not that familiar with how things
work behind the scenes. | have never
been there, but I think it’s important for
me to say what I need and then for you to
take that and run with it for me. Thank
you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. (interpretation) Mr. Okalik, are
you done?

Mr. Okalik (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Yes, it’s something
that I am glad to hear. If we can
participate in the establishment, | am
more than open to suggestions.

Looking at your opening comments, it
seems like you’ve had quite a lot of files
to deal with and you’re looking at filling
a position of assistant
commissioner/investigator to be
responsible for both Nunavut and the
Northwest Territories. When would you
like to fill that position or what kinds of
timelines are you looking at in filling that
position? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Okalik.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | would ideally like to have
somebody in place by about this time
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next year. One of the reasons | would like
to get somebody on line is that | will not
be putting my name forward once I finish
this term in office, which is February
2020 for Nunavut and October 2020 for
the Northwest Territories.

I think it’s really important to have some
continuity in place. | haven’t thought
through all of the logistics. One of the
ideas | had as a possibility would be to
have this additional person, assistant
commissioner, that I’m asking for here in
Igaluit but there might be a lot of
logistics attached to that and | don’t
know how exactly that would work, but
that’s an idea that would be my ideal
solution. | realize that that may not be a
possibility so ideally this time next year,
I’d love to have somebody in place to
start training and showing the ropes and
getting used to the process, and
everything else that we do. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Enook, you had a question.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Good afternoon,
Keenan Bengts. Welcome.

Before we start on the annual report, and
in reference to my colleague, Mr.
Okalik’s comment, | would like
clarification from this direction. You
table your reports to the Legislative
Assembly and the departments are taken
care of through the Management and
Services Board, so regarding your second
recommendation that you need a staff
member; have you discussed this with the
Clerk of the Assembly of Nunavut or
have you had discussions about your
recommendations from anybody in the
Assembly? Thank you.
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Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Enook.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | have raised the issue both
with the Clerk of the Assembly of the
Northwest Territories and with the Clerk
of the Assembly here. We have been
discussing it for a few months. They
know that this is what I will be proposing
or have been proposing. It’s one of those
things that | knew I had to start up the
discussion about and that’s what 1’ve
done on both sides of the border.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Anymore questions? Mr. Tom
Sammurtok.

Mr. Tom Sammurtok: Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. In her opening
remarks she was speaking about how
information is put up on the website, and
she mentioned a ripped open envelope
from which jump drive was missing. Has
that drive ever been found or located?
Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Sammurtok. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Unfortunately, no. The
department that sent it to me contacted
the post office, because it was sent
through the post office, and they did as
thorough a search for it as they could. It
never showed up. It’s information lost.
That won’t happen again because of our
new portal. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Tom Sammurtok (interpretation):
Thank you, Madam Chairperson. In her
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opening comments, the first time she
brought up the assistant or deputy
commissioner/investigator, and later on
she referred to the deputy
commissioner/investigator. Is that one
position or are they two separate
positions? Thank you.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Sammurtok. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. No. What | intend is one
person who has dual roles. | suppose that
it’s a title, “deputy commissioner.” They
would do the same kinds of things that |
do, with the commissioner signing off on
everything in the end. So it would be
somebody who does the investigations,
probably writes the reports and | would
sign them off. So one person. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. (interpretation) Are you done?
(interpretation ends) Okay. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. Welcome, Ms.
Keenan Bengts. | would like clarification
on her opening comments on page 2. It
states, “I made every effort to address all
of the recommendations made, but time
limitations and keeping up to date on the
day-to-day work of the office meant |
was not successful in completing all of
the projects recommended.” Even though
that is the case, we’re aware that you
have tried to do your best with your job.

I would like to get clarification. In the
NWT, do they make similar
recommendations for you to do? Are you
up to date in your duties in the NWT or
are you also behind there like you are in
Nunavut? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

NePNRGMDY br/al< D ShaeN<IC
Do/ b> L) <L PUo Lo
DSHebDALE Coa. blPal< Died ShhseN,

Coa ACDID>RHR AStha ALSeND>a<IseDse
D>RR_52GC L5 Sgheq [,

A/ RQU>CS®: sdhoql®, MC LD, [N Po >
<A,

Pa® <A%bS (ONANJO): Sdheal™, Ab/RDCS,
AL®Q ACDSTI*L ICDYSe Aob LSP*g®
NAcn<sbsoho. AL*a CAYP*<YGHO*L D*Lc™L
blMYaP< Acn<d™L <rbh*M o AcnlLyI%,
blYa dNcPndb®<tHa Acn<bN* o,
CA%a SbP>pNNDBLL®eD® NNGH<L 5g >
Dobtbob. DR INcDP<L5Ne, IS
A0BGL®D%, sdheq [,

AP/ XPCSe OLNNJO): Sdbeal®, ™ Pa® <AL,
CAL®PC? C <dar.

ddar: dr%al®, AYRDC® QL5 DevLANe
Pa® <A, APPN*Meg®
DPP<beaPLIAQ D>, LPALS 2-T
D>sbse/LN“5d, Ca
DINRNPY D DPCALY® RN G+{,56IC
bNLAGCE o® Q5GaaNAC
ADPNNRALOL®ANE. CRa Pabb*dé\¢
D>sbso/ L= 5NC, “Ced<lJse
DDPNNRALALPCATGHIPNE PY<lo
AADE 5050 AP0 5 Acn<NNTHGAC.
Ao ALASYJ e c Do G NC”
PP<dos CALAPb HK®N 5 AR<I/LIL o
CL®a. > Sb>pLasedse
ACAEN®ILLALST T,

DPYPAPLY*L IR CCDSe 0a ¢S CALADG®
b*Ja I no-¢
ADSINRNCDSOC>SHCCSL S AC
ACANCBREPAS A5 ULLNNPAS CAI*L
ACALNT DA DR H2GC CAL Q. CCP>

0a. 2 QULLN*PHAGSLAC? Sdy*al™,

ASYRB>CSe,

18




Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. No, they don’t ask me to do
as many projects over there. That doesn’t
mean that | don’t, of my own accord, do
projects over there. Am | behind? Yeah,
I’m just as behind in the Northwest
Territories as | am in Nunavut. | try to
balance my time between the two and put
as much work as is necessary into each
jurisdiction.

I would actually say that I’m probably
further behind in my Northwest
Territories work than I am currently in
my Nunavut work if only because in the
Northwest Territories | have a lot of files
in which I am giving advice on new
projects and new legislation, and there
are fewer of those on this side of the
border. Those ones take a lot of time.
Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. | also thank
her for the response. We’re starting to
realize more and more that you need
help. Perhaps if you can put a number out
there of the percentage of the work you
want to do in Nunavut and how much
you have completed. You have 100
percent if you do all of it. Is it 80
percent? If you can put a percentage on
how much work you have done and I’ll
end with that for now. Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Keenan Bengts.
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Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Approximately overall, 45
percent of my work is Nunavut and 55
percent is the Northwest Territories. It’s
hard to put a number on how far behind |
am on any one. | can tell you that I’ve got
currently on my desk waiting for me to
do some writing on, in total; I just need to
think about this for a minute, about 27
files.

I can’t tell you, because | don’t
differentiate when I’ve got work on my
desk. I put them in priority of time, so if
one comes in from Nunavut on day one
and one comes in from the Northwest
Territories on day two, Nunavut gets the
attention first. I give them attention as
they come in the door. So how far behind
am | on the Nunavut files? Probably
about half of them are Nunavut files. It’s
pretty even, to be honest.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you, Madam Chairperson. On the
bottom of the first page in the opening
remarks, it states that you deal with
breaches of privacy and that some of your
recommendations were not implemented.
It also states that no reports were done by
the departments, or taken care of by the
departments, so my question is: are the
departments involved in the writing of
your annual report? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Mikkungwak. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. If I understand the question
you’re asking me if the departments have
any role in writing my annual report. I’m
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sorry, | misunderstood. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. (interpretation) If you can restate
your question, Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you Madam Chairperson. In your
opening remarks, in the middle of the last
page, it states that you were dealing with
privacy issues. But, in your
recommendations coming out of your
office, you said that you were satisfied
that some departments’ implementation
of your recommendations and you didn’t
formally produce documents. That leads
me to ask: if those departments with
whom you felt had implemented the
recommendations satisfactorily, did you
included that in your annual report?
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Mikkungwak. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you. That’s
clear. No, if | don’t write a review or
recommendation, | haven’t put it in my
annual report, at least not to date. It’s a
fairly new provision; the breach
notification provisions, and there haven’t
been an overly large number of reports.
When I’'m satisfied that the public body
has recognized the breach and dealt with
it in an appropriate way and | don’t have
anything more to add have in terms of
suggestions or recommendations, | don’t
do a report. There is at least one in my
annual report, | believe, where | have
done a report and recommendation and
that would be discussed in my annual
report, but if I don’t do a report... . If I'm
satisfied with the fact that the public
body has recognized it first, dealt with it,
and made changes, then | don’t do a
report. Thank you.
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Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you, Madam Chairperson. My
colleagues have asked these questions,
but I would like further information. You
have supported MLAs in their
consideration of your deputy or assistant
investigator. My question is: looking at
Nunavut and the west, are the legislation,
policies, and rules similar or are there
differences? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Mikkungwak. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. The Act started out exactly
the same. Nunavut has made a few
changes that are different from the
Northwest Territories. Nunavut, I think, I
would say in fact, has been more
proactive and aggressive than the
Northwest Territories in addressing the
issues that arise out of the Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy
Act and my reports, my annual reports
and appearances.

In terms of basic policies and the way
they do things, it’s not that much
different in the two jurisdictions. The
way that my office is treated in terms of
being asked to take on projects by this
Committee is the different approach, but
other than that, everything is pretty much
the same. It’s the same legislation by and
large. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. (interpretation) Do you have any
more questions, Mr. Mikkungwak?
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Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you very much, Madam
Chairperson. As MLAs, when we’re
going to be considering whether we
should have the assistant
commissioner/investigator and whether
that position should be created in
Nunavut and/or the NWT, what | would
like to get clarified is: how does the
language issue affect your role as the
commissioner? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Mikkungwak. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. To be honest with you, in
the 16 or 17 years that | have been doing
this job in Nunavut and in the years
before that when we were one territory, |
have never received a request for review
in any language other than English. No,
I’m going to correct myself. | received
one in French from the Northwest
Territories. Other than that, | have only
ever dealt in English. | do have a backup
plan if that were to happen. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. (interpretation) Are you done?
(interpretation ends) Any further
questions to the opening comments? If
not, we will proceed right to her annual
report. Questions? Mr. Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Welcome, Ms. Bengts, to
our proceedings today. | know your
opening comments were quite detailed
and I’ll try my best not to cross over and
ask questions that you have already
answered or information you have
provided and, if | do, I apologize in
advance.
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During your previous appearance before | CAL bNLAGE € K La<N=lc b LRLbdC

the Standing Committee on Oversight of | 2N LLL>DNM> AcndsbeN* e o¢
Government Operations and Public CdYLLLOKGAN]® Cod<d DNDLNNCNoC
Accounts, you indicated that you would | b*Ya ®*Jcno <o Lab® <%PPLeC>oNe
like to see the Access to Information and | “~M<°C>NML*a.o*°8\>bCod™LC BT
Protection of Privacy Act amended to NPPLC®IAC afonb o <L Ldd Ao
“make it more responsive to today’s AT DADBCAL DT

business realities” and to address issues
such as a “duty to record.”

Can you indicate any additional and Q. OQ A%/ ®PE Shotbio '
specific amendments that you would LEPPIPNMB 0 NPPJLILML™AS O™
recommend be made to the Access to LU 5d7%al®, ArSBC™.

Information and Protection of Privacy
Act? Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

AP/ <MPCSe OLNNNJO): Sdbeal®, C GL>C

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Rumbolt. bae <peb

Ms. Keenan Bengts.
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Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. There are a lot. Not all of
them are huge amendments. Many of
them are to fix things like timelines. A lot
of them are technical. Some_of the _things NNCHCDY A S g> BSh>/SbbIL <
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Newfoundland and Labrador recently did
a complete review of their Act and they
now have one of, | would say, the most
progressive Acts in the country and
perhaps in the world. One of the issues
that we always deal with in Canada is:
should be Information and Privacy
Commissioner have order power? “You
must do this.” I wouldn’t be making
recommendations. 1’d be making orders
saying, “public body ‘A’, you must do
this.” Or whether the recommendation
powers should remain. Should the office
remain as an ombudsman kind of
approach?

In Newfoundland, what they’ve done is
they’ve maintained the ombudsman kind
of role and the Information and Privacy
Commissioner still only makes
recommendations, but now, if the public
body doesn’t want to accept those
recommendations, they have to go to
court and ask the court to allow them to
disregard the recommendations. It’s
pretty close to being an order power but
there is still some legal room for
government.

Those sorts of things are things that |
think we need to look at in terms of
changing the approach and making the
Act more obvious, more visible, more
“oh, we have to comply”. Right now |
think everyone knows there’s a new
Access to Information and Protection of
Privacy Act but I’m not sure a lot of
people really understand what it says, or
what it means, or why it’s there. So those
are the sorts of recommendations and I’'m
in the process of drafting a rather lengthy,
careful what you ask for when you ask
for when you ask for a comprehensive
review report. 1t’ll probably be about 60
pages long with all sorts of

CAL ACSHSTLLE o D>RY¢_*-¢_ >l
SPrsPGCeN<eDTELC CALASD SN o,
Cbdd /2 I/ Lao<cnDJIo“c baCl
Le$<LLC, P SALMbA. Ac®Le CR
AL D% AcndAan<sb S ba Cl
Cea LS. b D nnbde CLedd blYa™Nc
ASINJea b IY<IJTATbE5J
ALACD>ASH®I G J%a ®b? CALA*NLLE,
ALP LRLPIC Acn oo
D>Sb>N“cnd®asol, “ALASINSY,
ALACDSINSY.” DR 5eGC
ADcSdycDPNIA*Q > a5 5™

AN D>Iab DBSADIA*Q > 5L
AJCHCD>APL DL O DbSADIA*Q > L.

CPaoc ob¢ [ ALACLLLC CAL®
DSHSANDE AJCICC>IL AN of

A®ba AL®NHA*Q G HI®INe <L >
<IIcSdycPIA*arP*aSHOdN Do CP®. Pdoc
LRLYIC Acnd\*NC <DcSdyc<loSa®
LNPLE*N<KC ASb®IANPIPa SbeCeDC,
A®HPIANINIC PP<do Le*PcNJ*q eDC,
CALY <"nPePCGHMLACY bliPaboo BIeb
ASINT TS CALANPShsedse,
LALNANCGHAL PY<o SPISP<IPa s CY
CALASIALLNECDSe LRLPIC Ac e
LodLexP<< ASbIANPI> o NCP>J%a S oN®,

DR 3G ¢ Lcl%® Coa

NPLA QMDA ®be 532G ¢ ShPALL>SEM<<C
CAPI LRLYIC AN DSbPa .S 5NCCH>®,
“Da LcP<de<do™> CALP. DPPLD>ILCNM LLS
PedcLof, ALS > NSepLsLaise
DPPLD>ILENAMLLE, Lo Ac®

N REc<LoO®D Y, AL AJLESCNea®, PY<lo
SH>ALCNS AP AT LEC

MG HABPCACLPN 60-0 LALSHP a5 LC
ADcSdrP L 50 AdcbSho. CALd €=
SPISP<IsbeCiedde Ad%a L SPIsP<rea G D

<AL TPHNCPostha® Acndsbse<Pe5C.

25




recommendations, but those are the kinds
of things that we’re looking at in terms of
the big picture. A lot of my
recommendations are smaller items
though. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. During your response to my
questions, you mentioned the
Newfoundland and Labrador Access to
Information and Privacy Act and that was
going to be my next question which is
around that topic. It came into force, I
think, in June of 2015, and when you
appeared before us you stated that you
would be observing how that works out
for Newfoundland and Labrador. Since
that time, have you ever observed any
specific advantages or challenges that
Newfoundland and Labrador has had to
face since it began implementing its new
amendment to the Privacy Act? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Rumbolt.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. My colleague, or my former
colleague, because he retired this
summer, but the Information and Privacy
Commissioner from Newfoundland and
Labrador loves the Act. He says it’s
created challenges for his office, mostly
in terms of very short timelines to
respond to requests from the public.

In Newfoundland and Labrador, before
this legislation, the Information and
Privacy Commissioner had the authority
to bring the government to court over
refusals to accept recommendations. |
don’t have that authority. I’ve never done
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that, but they were doing it on a constant
basis. They probably had, at any point in
time, three or four court cases going
against the government. They haven’t
had one since the new legislation came
into effect.

The government would rather accept the
recommendations apparently than to
challenge them in court. From a privacy
advocate point of view, from an access to
information advocate’s point of view, it’s
worked out really well from all reports
that I’ve received. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. On page 6 of your 2015-16
annual report, you indicated that your
goal is to have completed a “...set of
comprehensive and specific
recommendations for possible
amendments to the Access to Information
and Protection of Privacy Act” in the
2016-17 fiscal year. Can you provide an
updated timeline by which you plan to
present your specific recommendations to
the Legislative Assembly? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Rumbolt.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. As | say, my goal is to have
everything done by the end of this
calendar year, by the end of December. |
don’t want to say that I will have it done
by then simply because | know what’s on
my desk, and | don’t want to commit to
something that I may or may not be able
to comply with, but that is my goal. By
the end of December | hope to have all of
that completed. Thank you.
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Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. On page 11 of your report,
you describe the process by which your
office may investigate privacy
complaints. You indicated that “...the
Minister or CEO of the public agency
involved must respond to the
recommendations made by the
Information and Privacy Commissioner
in privacy breach matters. In these cases,
however, the Minister or CEO has 90
days to respond, and there is no right of
appeal from the decision made. In your
view, should a complainant have the right
to appeal a public agency decision in a
privacy breech matter? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Rumbolt.
Interesting question. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. It’s one those things that
I’ve actually thought quite a bit about.
My recommendations on access matters
are fairly black and white. You should
disclose this; you shouldn’t disclose that.
It’s not a matter of policy or anything
else.

Many of the recommendations | make on
the privacy side of things really involve
changing policies and changing practices
and changing generally the way people
do things. It’s a much bigger ask than
following a “disclose or don’t disclose” a
certain recommendation.

Should there be a right of appeal? It’s
hard to say. | would like to see a way for
an individual to follow up on a decision
that’s made on a privacy issue, but |
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don’t think that you want courts
necessarily determining some of the
policy issues that come out of my
recommendations on privacy complaints.
I’m not sure if that answers your
question.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. We’ll go on to the next person.
Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. In its report on
the review of your 2014-15 annual report,
the Standing Committee recommended
that you meet in person with
representatives from the Inuit
Qaujimajatugangit Katimajiit... .

| believe the interpreters require some
time. Have they caught up? Madam
Chairperson, is it okay now?

Chairperson (interpretation): Mr.
Joanasie, can you please start from the
beginning? We didn’t have interpreters
for a few seconds.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. Let me start
from the beginning. In its report on the
review of your 2014-15 annual report and
your recommendations, the Standing
Committee made recommendations that
you meet in person with representatives
from the Inuit Qaujimajatugangit
Katimajiit “to exchange perspectives with
them on issues related to access to
information and protection of privacy.”
On page 6 of your 2015-16 annual report,
you indicate that you reached out to the
Inuit Qaujimajatugangit Katimajiit to
arrange a meeting.

As of today, have you had the
opportunity to meet with that committee?
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That is my first question. Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. No, that meeting has not
been arranged. They haven’t gotten back
to me yet, but I will be following up. It’s
been a really busy summer for me so |
kind of put that one of the back burner
for now but | do intend to follow up with
them again this fall. Thank you.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Ms. Keenan Bengts. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson, and thank you
for your response. In your opening
comments you stated that the information
and privacy legislation will be amended.
It will be amended sometime in the
future. Perhaps you can meet with the
Inuit Qaujimajatugangit Katimajiit
committee or entity to get their
recommendation. Will you be consulting
with them to make sure that their input is
included? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Certainly their perspective
would be interesting, and I’m not sure
that I’m going to be able to meet with
them before the end of this calendar year,
but certainly that would be something
that 1 would be open to doing. Thank
you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Joanasie.
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Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. Going back to
the amendments of the legislation, to
make them more relevant to Nunavut,
will Nunavummiut be given an
opportunity, although not all of the
communities would be consulted? Will
you be consulting with the communities
or will you have a tour to the
communities? If there are going to be
amendmentst to legislation, the
government usually consults with the
communities. Will you, as the
Information and Privacy Commissioner,
be doing that and consulting with the
communities?

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. The review that I’m doing
is a review from the perspective of an
access to information and a privacy
advocate. I think that a consultation
should absolutely be done, but I don’t
think that’s my role. | think that would be
the government’s role. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you. | understood her response. On page
6 of your annual report, you identify a
number of concerns related to the process
by which a public body may be held to
account following an access to
information review that has been
completed by your office. You state that
“Public bodies are not required to report
back to my office or to the Applicant [or]
Complainant once the recommendations
have been implemented.”
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I note that, for a number of years, this
Standing Committee has taken the
opportunity of these televised hearings to
hold the government to account for its
implementation of your office’s
recommendations.

In your view, are there any other specific
policies or practices that can be put into
place to ensure that public bodies are
required to account for the
implementation of your office’s
recommendations? You mentioned that
the implementation of your office’s
recommendations don’t have to go
through the court, but it’s to make sure
that they are required to account for the
implementation of your office’s
recommendations according to the
legislation. | hope you understand me.
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. As | said earlier, | think one
of the things I will be recommending in
my review of the Act is some sort of
provision which makes government more
accountable, either following the... .
Although even in Newfoundland and
Labrador, once the recommendations are
accepted, in none of the jurisdictions is
there any way to follow up to make sure
that the public bodies actually do what
they say they’re going to do.

One of the things that | would likely be
recommending is that there be a further
reporting requirement on public bodies to
let the Information and Privacy
Commissioner and the applicant know
when they have completed the steps they
say they’re going to complete. That’s a
simple way to do it, but there may be
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other ways.

This is again one of the things that I hope
to discuss more with my colleagues from
across the country to see how they deal
with it because it’s not just a Nunavut
problem. In all jurisdictions once
recommendations are made and accepted,
or once orders are made, there’s no real
follow-up provided for in any of the
legislation. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. I’ll go to page
7 of the report regarding the Qikiqtani
General Hospital. You indicate that you
had decided to conduct a privacy audit on
the Qikiqtani General Hospital, marking
your office’s first privacy audit in
Nunavut, and that the “groundwork has
all been completed.” Can you specify
start and end dates for your privacy audit
of the Qikigtani General Hospital? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | started this process almost
immediately upon receiving this
Committee’s report last year, so by the
end of November | had the wheels in
motion. It will be complete within, |
would say, three weeks. I’m just crossing
the t’s and dotting the i’s and | have just
provided a draft copy to the management
at the hospital so that they can take a look
at it before [hand], and make sure that |
haven’t got any facts wrong before
submitting it. It is my hope to get it in by
the end of this month for translation. It
will have to be translated. | would invite
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the opportunity, and again, be careful
what I ask for, to be invited back to this
Committee to discuss just that report
because it’s going to be a substantial and
substantive report. There’s going to be a
lot of stuff in it. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. Thank you for
the explanation. As you are aware, the
Office of Languages Commissioner
recently released a report on its first
systemic investigation which assessed the
delivery of language services at the
Qikigtani General Hospital. In its report,
the Office of Languages Commissioner
identifies a number of issues that it faced
in requesting documents for review.

Ms. Keenan Bengts, can you indicate if
your office faced any challenges when
requesting documents from the Qikigtani
General Hospital? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Actually we found that the
staff and management at the hospital
were very open and went out of their way
to get us what we needed. We did,
however, run into more difficulty with
the Department of Health because at the
moment, the hospital is not a public body
in and of itself. It is part of the
Department of Health and the
Department of Health was a little less
inviting, shall we say, or interested in
having us there and there was a little bit
more reluctance. It took us a little bit
more digging to get what we needed from
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them. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Joanasie

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson and thank you
for your response. As the commissioner
stated that the report will be
comprehensive after she has investigated
the Qikigtani General Hospital and | note
that on page seven of your 2015-16
report; briefly, can you provide the
committee today with a brief summary of
the findings of your recent privacy audit
of Qikigtani General Hospital and can
you indicate what specific privacy issues
you identified, if any, during the course
of your audit?

Can you provide the committee today
with a brief summary of the findings?
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Joanasie.
Ms. Keenan Bengts, can you offer us a
few tidbits of what’s coming up?

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. As | said in my opening
remarks, you can expect that | will be
recommending that health-specific
privacy legislation is required. Health-
specific privacy legislation; | think
there’s a reluctance or reticence on the
part of the Department of Health to
follow through on that piece of
legislation because they see it as
interfering with what they do.

In fact, the Health Information Act, part
of the reason for having a Health
Information Act is to facilitate the
exchange of information for health
purposes, as opposed to prevent the
exchange of information for health
purposes. That’s one of the things that
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will absolutely be coming out of the
report.

Also, one of the major deficiencies, shall
we say, that we found in the hospital is
that there is no leadership within the
hospital in terms of privacy issues. One
of the recommendations we will be
making is that there be a position created
as the chief privacy officer for the
hospital, located in the hospital and not
located in the Department of Health.
Part of the problem is that, as | said, the
Department of Health and the hospital are
really the same organization, but they
don’t act as the same organization in
many ways. That would be one of the
recommendations and other
recommendations will kind of follow
from the creation of the chief privacy
officer within the hospital.

There will be recommendations with
respect to the meditech system and the
electronic system. Right now, the
hospital works on a system of paper
records and electronic records which
doesn’t help at all in terms of insuring
privacy and that sort of thing.

There are a lot of little things that need to
be done better, but there’s a couple of big
things that will make a big improvement.
I hope that helps. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Enook, your turn.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. Allow me to go
back to the audit of the Qikigtani General
Hospital. As you indicated earlier, |
would like you to clarify and this is also
related to one of the questions of Mr.
Joanasie regarding whether the staff were
cooperative when you wanted access to
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some files; you indicated that they were
cooperative. | also understood that it was
only the Department of Health officials
who were not cooperative or seemed to
put up resistance or not wanting you to be
there at all. Can you elaborate more on
that? Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. For example, it took us until
probably two weeks ago to be able to
finally get an interview with the Assistant
Deputy Minister. When we were here in
June at the hospital, we invited her to
meet with us, she couldn’t or wouldn’t
meet with us, I don’t know which, but we
got to speak to virtually everybody at the
hospital.

We had a hard time getting some of the
policies that we asked for. We
discovered, not through the department
but through another source, that there
was a set of privacy directives that had
been drafted some years ago, but nobody
at the hospital knew about them and we
didn’t get them from the Department of
Health, who should have provided it
when we asked if there were privacy
policies in place. It was kind of that sort
of thing. We got all the information we
needed in the end, but some of it came
kind of in a roundabout way. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. With the
Department of Health being hard to work
with or belittling what you’re trying to do
when you’re trying to make an audit,
what was it that they were not very
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cooperative during your audit or what
was the reasoning behind the Department
of Health not being very friendly or
receptive to your audit? Can you respond
to that? Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. While | can’t speak for
them, | do know that in the Northwest
Territories, and | will hark back to them,
the Department of Health is also a
department | have trouble dealing with
over there. | think it’s difficult to
juxtapose the delivery of health care with
privacy protections. It’s one of those
things that are quite difficult to address
and it’s one that | think departments of
health generally would rather not have to
address.

Many bureaucrats | have dealt with, not
just here and I’m not going to say that’s
what’s going on here, in the Northwest
Territories, that | have heard of from my
colleagues across the country is that
many bureaucrats who work in the
department of health just see privacy as
something they have to deal with because
they have to deal with it, not because
they think it’s important to deal with. I’'m
not sure if it’s something that stands in
the way of their getting things done and |
think that probably there’s something to
do with that.

It’s a difficult juxtaposition. It’s really
hard to balance the two. It’s easier if you
can just provide health services without
having to deal with privacy, but you can’t
do that because health information can be
very sensitive information and it should
be up to the individual to be able to
determine what and who has access to
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that information. It’s a difficult issue to
deal with. Without putting words in their
mouths or saying that that’s what’s going
on here, | think that generally speaking
across the country, there has been that
kind of a struggle between departments
of health and information and privacy
commissioners. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. | do know that we
have to proceed, but it is a major concern
of mine. Our government’s departments
should not be obstructing any audit when
they have a chance to make
improvements in the way their programs
or services are being run. | don’t think
they should be obstructing anything that
makes improvements.

I don’t want to stay on this page and even
if that’s the case, I’ll say it here in the
House that your recommendations are
going to be coming out in the fall of next
year. | would like you to know that the
Chair and the Standing Committee are
going to be lobbying the government,
because the people of Nunavut have to
know about what you’re doing and the
importance of it.

We’ll be lobbying the government, and if
we can make them approve it, I’ll try as
hard as | can to have a health-related
piece of legislation. | can’t even wait to
see the draft, and | can’t wait to see the
recommendations that you’re going to be
putting in your next report.

I’ll move onto another subject Madam
Chairperson. Now that you’ve completed
the audit of the Qikigtani General
Hospital, are you going to be doing an
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audit of any other government
department or public body? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you. Ms. Keenan
Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. That’s like asking a mom
having just delivered a child whether she
IS going to have another one.

>>| aughter

I think it was a very useful project to
undertake. It was interesting. It taught me
a lot about how things worked at the
hospital. I think that I would like to do
another one, but probably not in the next
year. It took a lot of time and effort. It
just took a lot of my time. | enjoyed
doing it, but I don’t think I’ll be doing
another one in this fiscal year. Maybe
towards the end of the next fiscal year |
would think about doing another one.

Where | would go from here, like what
public body, | haven’t really thought
about that at all, at this point. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. You stated that
you’re going to be doing an audit of a
department, only starting in 2017. Our
elections are coming up on the fall of
2017 and some of us will probably not be
there. Some of us might not be running
again, either that or not getting elected.

At that time, the next time you’re going
to do an audit, what would you base your
decision on, which department you would
audit? On what do you base your
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decision to decide which department to
audit? If I am clear, Madam Chairperson.
Thank you.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | would, first of all, pick a
public body that collects a lot of personal
information. Motor Vehicles maybe.
Social services; financial assistance kind
of organizations. The kind of
organization that the public deals with all
the time and has to provide their personal
information in order to get services. That
would kind of be my first reason for
picking a public body.

The sensitivity of the information that
they deal with would be another issue.
These are all the reasons I chose the
Qikigtani General Hospital because it’s a
large public body. It deals with a lot of
personal information and really sensitive
stuff. Those are the sorts of criteria |
would use to pick the next public body.
Another reason | might choose a
particular public body is if there have
been a lot of complaints about privacy
issues arising out of a particular public
body. So those are the kinds of criteria |
would use. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. (interpretation) Mr. Enook, do
you still have more questions?

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Yes,
apparently. Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Lastly, I will ask about the
recent audit. You audited the Qikiqgtani
General Hospital. After the audit was
completed, do you have an understanding
now relating to the health centres in
Rankin Inlet and Cambridge Bay, would
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there be similar guidelines for auditing
those two centres?

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | think you’ll find that many
of the recommendations we will be
making out of this may have all three
health centres in mind. We haven’t gone
to those other health centres. We didn’t
talk to anyone at those health centres.

We got a lot of information about how
the system works and how the
information moves within the territory. |
think our recommendations this time will
also, to some degree, if not to a large
degree, address some of the
communication problems between the
nursing centres in the smaller
communities and the hospital here. There
is a lot of information that gets
exchanged and travels in the health
sector.

One of the reasons it’s so important to
have health-specific privacy legislation is
because the general legislation just
doesn’t work for the way that the health
information needs to travel in order to be
effectively used to provide health
services. | would absolutely consider
doing one of the other health centres, but
I think you’ll find that many of the
recommendations we’re going to make
would be applicable to most of the health
facilities. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Just before we break, | want to
take the liberty to ask a question. You did
the investigation for the hospital here in
Igaluit; did you do the same thing in
Yellowknife? If so, how similar were
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they? Thank you. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. I’ve never done a privacy
audit before. This is my first. | am now
considering doing one in the Northwest
Territories, but | haven’t, as yet, raised
that possibility with them. No, the short
answer is | haven’t done it there. Thank
you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Just one other question, well it
always leads to another one. Would you
consider doing another one here before
you do one in the Northwest Territories?
When we talk about a year from now,
would you wait a year because you are
going to do one in the Northwest
Territories? Or is it because you just need
that time and then in a year’s time maybe
you’ll think of doing another one here? If
you are, | might suggest QEC would be a
good one to look at. Thank you. Ms.
Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. If | think another privacy
audit should be done in Nunavut, 1’d do
it. | try to separate “do one there, then
one here,” | don’t do it that way. The
Northwest Territories operates a little
differently than here. I think that | would
be more welcome here in doing another
privacy audit. | find that the people of
Nunavut are always anxious to improve
what they’re doing and how they’re
doing it. That’s my experience. To that
reason, | think the audits are a little more
welcome than they might be in the
Northwest Territories. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, very much too.

I think at this time, we’ll take a ten
minute break. Thank you.
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>>Committee recessed at 15:05 and
resumed at 15:21

Chairperson: Welcome back,
everybody. Next on my list is Mr.
Shooyook.

Mr. Shooyook (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. Welcome to
the Standing Committee. | don’t want to
stay in one place but my colleague,
Joanasie, asked part of the question. |
would like to ask a short question on
page six as a question.

In the 2014-15 Assembly when we
elected, I’ve always worked hard on
implementing Inuit Qaujimajatugangit
inside the Assembly. With that being the
case, when my colleague was asking the
question, I understood firstly that you had
never met with the Inuit
Qaujimajatugangit board and if you
delay that any further then the Inuit
Qaujimajatugangit will not be part of the
operation for the next five or ten years.
What are your goals if Inuit
Qaujimajatugangit is not included in
those audits?

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Shooyook. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | am not sure that |
understand the question but I’'m still
trying to get a meeting with them. It
might be before the end of December this
year, it might not be until sometime next
year but I’m still working on getting a
meeting with them. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thanks, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Shooyook.

Mr. Shooyook (interpretation): Thank
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you, Madam Chairperson and thank you.
With the timeline for the legislation to be
amended, it would be preferable to see in
Nunavut; we are only told by the
government that there is no legislation
and with us having Nunavut now, we
have to start getting involved with Inuit
Qaujimajatugangit.

With that being the case for instance,
we’re still under the old legislation of the
NWT. The changes that you’re planning,
if that’s implemented and we approve it.
In that case, would Inuit traditional
knowledge be included more in your
activities? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Shooyook. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. You actually ask a really
interesting question and something that
I’ve thought about from time to time over
the years, because access to information
and protection of privacy legislation,
particularly the privacy side of the
legislation, is based very much on
southern European government history. It
has never really taken into account the
people’s history, especially up here. |
think there is a very different approach to
the concept of privacy in Inuit culture.

That said, | think it’s also important in
today’s day and age that Nunavummiut
have privacy protections available to
them. I think that there probably would
be, and I think you’re right in that it
would be very valuable to discuss these
concepts with the people who know the
culture.

In the end, I think it’s important that the
legislation does what it’s supposed to do,
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in terms of protecting the individual’s
privacy. | think that’s a policy issue. It’s
not for me to say what policy should be. |
think that there are things that could be
done within the legislation, which would
make it more sensitive to Inuit culture. |
also think that it’s really important in
today’s day and age, where everything is
electronic and personal information is a
commaodity, that people in Nunavut are
protected. So there has got to be a
balancing. | hope that answers the
question. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. (interpretation) Any more
questions? Mr. Shooyook.

Mr. Shooyook (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. Thank you for
your response. | think you understand my
question fully. This is very important.
Our culture is very important. | have
come to understand the importance of
privacy issues in Inuit culture. There are
privacy issues also when you’re
counselling other people. It’s completely
different from our present legislation.

Elders who deal with individuals, they
never bring that out to the public. With
that being the case, Inuit counselling
under 1Q would either be through
policies, or even through just legislation
in the future. It is only then that
traditional knowledge will help improve
life. That’s what | would like to see. |
would like to see it in policies or
legislation. If it cannot be included,
please consider that very carefully so that
the board can properly plan for that. |
wanted to comment on that. Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Shooyook. That was just a comment.
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I don’t think there is a question in there,
but you can respond if you want. Ms.
Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: | would say that the
policy direction that any legislation takes
would be up to you. I think you’re quite
right in terms of incorporating Inuit
culture and Inuit approaches to privacy,
which are different than what’s in the
legislation right now. | take your point,
but I think that’s a policy decision that is
not my bailiwick. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Mikkungwak, | think you’re
next on the list.

Mr. Mikkungwak (interpretation):
Thank you very much, Madam
Chairperson. (interpretation ends) On
page 17-18 of your 2015-16 annual
report, you discuss a review of a
recommendation that you make
concerning the Department of Health.
You indicate that you had recommended
that compliance audits be conducted by
the department at all health facilities in
Nunavut to ensure that all policies and
procedures with respect to file
management were being followed. Can
you explain what this type of compliance
audit should entail? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In this case, one of the main
problems was that the staff in the health
centre wasn’t following their policies and
procedures and nobody was following up
and | don’t think it was a problem just in
this particular facility. I think throughout
the territory, there’s a lot of turnover in
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terms of staff and one person’s bad habits
get passed on or somebody just doesn’t
pass on the information.

I think my conclusion was, is that most
likely most of the nursing stations, most
of the nursing stations in the territory are
probably not following their own policies
and procedures just because of what
happened in this particular case. | think
that it would be important for somebody
to go through the health centers and make
sure that they’re following the policies
because the policies are there and they
have pretty good policies for privacy
protections but if they’re not being
followed, they are going to be problems
and that was going on in this health
centre.

For instance, they had a policy that when
you took a file out of the file room, you
had to put a card in that says, “this is
when it was taken and this is the person
who took it out” but that wasn’t
happening so if a file was missing,
nobody knew where it was. So a
compliance audit, to me, would be just
having somebody go in and making sure
that the policies and procedures are being
followed. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. On that same page again, 17
and 18 of your 2015-16 annual report,
you discuss a review of recommendation
that you made concerning the Department
of Health. You indicated that steps be
taken as soon as possible to transition
health records in Nunavut to electronic
format. What is the status on that? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.
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Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Nothing in my privacy audit
is going to be new. You’re asking me all
the questions now. From what |
understand, particularly from the privacy
audit that we just completed is that the
meditech system is being rolled out
slowly and that it was planned, and |
don’t know whether this is going to come
to fruition or not; this is just what we
were told so | don’t know. You probably
have to ask the Department of Health that
all health centers will have the Meditech
system by sometime in 2017.

That said, there’s a long way to go before
that happens because most of the health
centers as far as | know right now are still
paper base systems and even the
Qikigtani Hospital still isn’t fully
functional in its electronic record. The
hospital is still dealing on a paper
base/electronic system. There is
essentially more than one record for each
person because they haven’t fully
converted. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In listening to the response:
how often should compliance audits be
completed at health facilities? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. |1 would say once a year.
The problem is that the turnovers are so
great at these centres, and policies fall by
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the wayside, it seems fairly quickly. If
there is not one person in each health
facility who is responsible for privacy
issues, then 1 would say that a
compliance audit should be done once a
year. If there is somebody in place, it
should be their responsibility to do it on
an ongoing day-to-day basis. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. As we’re talking about
humans and personnel, on page 18 and 19
of your 2015-16 annual report you
discussed a review recommendation that
you made concerning the Workers’
Safety and Compensation Commission.
You indicate that while you did make a
number of recommendations to the
commission, your recommendations were
accepted in part. Can you explain why
the Workers’” Safety and Compensation
Commission did not fully accept your
recommendation? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. I’m just going to remind
myself of what this one was particularly
about. | think in this case, it was a matter
of a difference of opinion between
counsel for WSCC and myself, in terms
of the necessity for ... . It kind of circled
around solicitor client privilege. | made a
recommendation that if personal
information is being given to counsel to
deal with an issue ... . Maybe I should
back up.

In this case what had happened is that the
individual had filed a number of
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complaints against WSCC. It was the
individual pitted against WSCC; it wasn’t
the individual dealing on an equal basis
with the client. He filed a number of
human rights complaints, | believe most
of them were, and had made a lot of
threats about bringing WSCC to court on
various other issues.

WSCC handed over certain parts of his
medical records in order to deal with
those complaints. One of the
recommendations that | made was that if
you’re going to hand that information
over to your lawyers, you should tell the
individual that’s what you’re doing. To
give the individual a chance to say, “No,
I’d rather you didn’t share. I’m going to
withdraw my complaint.”

WSCC, in this case, decided that there is
a very long history of conflict between
the WSCC and this individual. WSCC
felt that they needed to be able to consult
with their lawyers without the individual
knowing. So it was just a matter of a
difference of opinion, in terms of what
that lawyer felt she needed to do in order
to address the legal needs of WSCC and
what | recommended.

Let’s be clear. When | make
recommendations, particularly when it
comes to privacy issues, I make big
recommendations. For that reason, |
don’t always expect them to be accepted.
I make recommendations as if we lived in
a perfect world and we don’t. |
understood in this particular case, why
she chose not to accept my
recommendations. | don’t necessarily
agree with her, but I understood the
reasoning behind her refusal. | wasn’t
terribly upset about that one, it’s not one
that | would’ve ever taken to court or
take it further or anything like that. She
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clearly thought it through and made a
considered decision not to follow one
particular recommendation | made.
Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Moving right along I’ll
move on to another department here. In
its recent responses of the Standing
Committee’s report on the Information
and Privacy Commissioner’s 2015
appearance, the government accepted the
committee’s recommendation that it
consult with your office to determine a
practicable timetable for having the
Access to Information and Protection of
Privacy Act apply to district education
authorities.

Can you indicate if your office has been
consulted on this initiative since your
September 2015 appearance? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Yes. We’ve been having
ongoing discussions on how best to do
that. I don’t know exactly where they’re
at but I know they’re still working on it
and we have had discussions back and
forth between EIA and myself on that
issue. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. On pages 21 and 22 of your
2015-16 annual report, you state that in
recent years there have been more and
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more complaints involving various
education authorities. Can you indicate
how many complaints involving
education authorities you received in
2015-16 fiscal year? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | can tell you that | have
made two review recommendations
dealing with the district education
authorities. How many complaints?
There are probably one or two additional
ones that aren’t yet complete. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Also in your annual report,
you indicate that while you haven’t been
able to address issues concerning district
education authorities by making the
Department of Education responsible for
access and privacy in the school system,
it makes much more sense to make
education authorities directly responsible
for both access and privacy.

Can you explain why it is important that
education authorities are directly
responsible for access and privacy within
their own school districts? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. The easiest way to answer
that is that’s where the information is.
The information about students is in the
school and if there are no policies or

KoPseI LN S L A T AC
bNLANC MA0C anaA%®/Yea PAC SbeNa
alLNevPegeCsh alLN** "o So

Doy D>IbsosL L Ac®.of Clo <5GJ*Lo?

sgbeal™®, Ab/RPCS,

Ab/PCSe OLAMNJC): Sdh*al™®, MC MP<se,
MC P <A%,

Pa <A%Y ONMNJO): Sdval™®, AbYRPCS,
LsPeo® CAL <Dcdr2*LPNsbe >GL

Ac®o <D ndbdS bNLMPC Mo,
ACDYS 5P LPheGoHP<se

QLN Lo eCShSe/LYSe AL S S g,
sdveal®.

AP/ PCSe OLNNNJO): Sdb2al™®, [ Pa® <AL,
MC FPey<se,

rPeddse ONNNJO): sdyeal™, Ab/RUPCe®,
CRECCP® (SGJCLe/>NoC Dobbc<dl oo
D>bse/LLAC, CLbd<dJ%® ArLoaDAC
Acn<dn LA LR /LG H<INC

Ao <D nrbdS AALSNNSHECHCHNE, bNLNC
AfLONSbeCseCNe Cod<
Acto <D nAtLnbde bLN<Sb®NCH<HNe
ACNOD>< Ab<o b*Ja®dcnoD><lC. CALd
CeRJ%® Aceo %I nrbde o

> NT®N>PQ PIAC.

QOQAAPQBPPY AL ALLA L5

Ac®o <D ndedS bNLMNC D> CNJ*asebC
b*Ja®DcnoTC allos Ac\ASINIo?
sgyeal™®, Ab/RPCE®,

ASYRPCe ONMNJO): dval®, MC TP,
M Pa® <A

Pa <A OLNNNUO): Sdbal™, Ab/RDCS,
AL PDLSoeDse CAL DPYPbeoPNNAC
CAbotLC obac®o, Ac*od®Idcn~o®
ASRNES ACSOD< ADEHLC.

<DALSCH>M<LE Sh o > (oL LC

53




procedures in place within the schools to
address these issues then they’re just not
going to be addressed at the, shall we say,
corporate level of the Department of
Education. It makes sense to me to give
responsibility for protection of privacy at
the place the information exists. Thank
you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Mikkungwak.

Mr. Mikkungwak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In listening to your response
and the response that was just stated now,
if there ever was a breach of
confidentiality, who would be held
liable? Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Mikkungwak and an interesting question.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Well in fact, one of the
review recommendations | mentioned in
my report, was exactly one of those
issues where the individual, in this case it
was a teacher whose employment
information had been disclosed and he
made a complaint to his supervisor and
got no response. He made a complaint to
the principal and he went up the ladder,
in any event. He went to the DEA. He
went to the Department of Education and
nobody took responsibility. No one
would respond to his complaint because
nobody wanted to take responsibility for
it.

I think probably that’s why that particular
recommendation is why | am suggesting
that the District Education Authority
have to take responsibility. They’re the
ones on the ground. Nobody wanted to
take responsibility in that particular case.

ACNADS Ao, CLed<™Neb

DY GCHCHNC. AlLoa ®DAC
APLSeC>U*Q GG,

Ac®o <D ndLnbd® of
Acn<YUccnd®a Sy tLC. DPYadA%a DS
>R ¢ Acn<Sbn<SbSase N> NgSTC

b**Ja ®Io?b, CAbc<<C Ac*Lo oac®c.
sdyeal®.

Ab/PBCSe OLNNJO): Sdb®al™, M Pa® <A,
MC FP%J<Se,

rPesdqse ONNNJC): sdbeal™®, Ab/RPCSe,
PD>YNC Coa DN HJACL DSHGCSCAS, CAL

b**Ja SeDgb NSePLsheI< 5%g b — Pac CAL
KoL\ GLSth, AGANShSaSebe? Ssdeal®,
AbYD>Csb,

AP/ XPCSe OLNNNJO): sdbeal™®, C [P,
MC Pa® <A,

Pa® <At OLNNNJO): sdbal®, Ab/DCse,
Ac*LC C=R PSPPI, IDcsdye<n/LyL
>Sb>YN/LYGAC Dobbc<dM oo ¢
CALASD D> P>®I% CAL Aob ACKAN
A®ba ALPN*NC <AL CdYDosLC
KNePCPeo*LC CA%a > db®N\* g g®
QYPLBMob DO Ho DSo 5 NGADo
ACNADS Q¥PEh* ot DSbeCsedse

Ao <D At bNLM oC PSheCsedse
Acto<d®dcnrtlnbd o5 PbG <N Ho
PP<do APL®C>a NI Sh_os
AbIn.®C>g D5

<IN JLESbSoPLLC.

C*ac C=R dDcSdyc<S CALAC*LD 5.
ASRNL CR Ac®o <D nabde bNLA*NC
NJZP<Lb*LC Acn<Sbn<sbsosT CAbatLC
oacll. d/<o“c NJYP>JLc D LLC PY<do
NJYD>P e cc DI > NEse,

54




Eventually they did, but it wasn’t until it
reached the Department of Education. It
was like four rungs up the ladder before
he got any attention. I think it’s important
that these things be dealt with on the
ground. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Enook, you’re next on the
list.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. My only question is
about education. Madam Chairperson, in
Ms. Keenan Bengts’ report on page 16, it
states that the district education
authorities are not formally listed as
public bodies under the Act. I understand
what that means. Even though they’re in
that situation and they’re not formally
listed with the authority that you have
been given, you want to give the DEAs
more responsibilities, but the DEAs have
not been formally listed as public bodies.
Can you please clarify that whole thing?
Thank you.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Enook. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Part of the problem is that |
don’t understand the function of the
DEAs. The reason | don’t understand the
function of the DEAs is because nobody
would explain it to me when | was doing
these recommendations. If I’m confused
about it, others are confused about it.

As | understand the DEAs are the local
organizations who deal with the
educational issues that arise in
community. They are made up of
volunteers, as | understand it, and at least
in theory are at arms length from
government. That’s on the one hand.

AST o Do G®Db®/*a cc PPIL_ 5<%, Codd
Ac®o eI nnbdC Prda C<P>* SdeAo¢
NAL.o¢ sdcNose<+Lot NP>NLIT PY<o
DPMo. APAcGCOAa *Lo? ¢S c®< Lo
AANY Lo DPYNCP>U*an <o DL,
sdyeal®.

Ab/RPCSe OLANJC): Sdb®al™, M Pa® <A,
MC Aob, P cP>cSTINC,

Aob: Sdral®, AYRPCS®, CDI%®
AAPINENSb PbJLI*L Aco <D nabdC
Acn<bibhrPegb  AbJRPCS Do Pa® <A
Dotbcddoto LPA®IGY Lo 16-0
NNSZLLAS, NNG® oNE Codd
Ac*odDcnrbdc bNLA*NC,
Ac®o<eDnrbdC oa g bNLAC
AcSnSD>ILoSb*MLLC NM>aGseC> 5N Lebse
Lcbod. Ca DPPYec,Ged. CALAPb SN HJ >
AL ON S ASO“D Adea S C
Lctod Acndbh*Leo® DobDeb®aSd= oNe
D>dd AcnYD>ILYC M LD AD<IE,

C AL DPYNCN<c D>l Sbos C*a
Db/ L U ADE, Sdy*al™®, ASYPC,

AP/ XPCSe: sdhoq [, C Aod M Pa® <A,

Pa <A%Y (ONMNJO): Sdv®al™®, AbYRDCS,
AL b DPNNLYSCYLAC D

Ac®o <D ndedC bNLMNPC oac®o
Acn<dnP<dc™N DPYYA QN /Lo a b PC
PAcNC CCLL*UC.
QOAAPIBCHJ QL LLC AA®AG SN S
ADcSdy DG o Ne 5L, CALL €3
aoNJbd IPEocP® o SPYD>a N>k,

CAbI oac®o NMPLLC bLSbeCseDe
Ac*od®Idcnol¢ Ac*od®Idcno®
AL oA ®Dgb N®PSHeCeIab, AJLLC
DPPPLYPd c AJLSC Pal b NLNe
Ab<eND>ALLC bNLro LRLbIC

Y CaGseeONC, CALY C2R DPY/LECS®bG.

ASba ALeCNCNSHECAC QACNSHEC AL C

55




They hire and fire, as | understand it, the
teachers, but the teachers aren’t
employees of the DEAS, they’re
employees of the government. The DEAS
are responsible for the running of the
school, but they’re not responsible for
privacy or access to information. It’s just
very confusing.

To me, the people who are responsible
for the day-to-day running of these
schools should be responsible for
ensuring privacy and for addressing
access to information issues. That’s why
I think the DEAS should be named as
public bodies under the Act. They aren’t
right now. At the very least, the
Department of Education should be
insisting on DEAs all having privacy and
access policies in place.

It’s a matter of who is responsible and
can we point to that person. To me, in
most cases, it’s going to be the DEA.
That’s who the teacher went to and he
didn’t get any love from the DEA
because they didn’t have any
responsibility, or wouldn’t take
responsibility. That’s why | think the
DEAs should be public bodies under the
Act. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Enook.

Mr. Enook (interpretation): Thank you,
Madam Chairperson. What I’m trying to
say is some of us as MLAs have
previously stated that one of the reasons
for us wanting Nunavut is so that each
community would have more
responsibilities and have more authority
and take part more in the running of
Nunavut. Perhaps at that time, Ms.
Keenan Bengts, you didn’t hear that.
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Recently the education department was
reviewing the Education Act and doing
community consultations. What we heard
a lot, and what I’ve stated in this House a
lot, is that the local DEAs, if they are
going to be given responsibilities then
they should be given resources. If they
are going to be responsible for what
you’re talking about, then the proper
resources have to be put into the
communities right away.

The way the Department of Education
usually works through the DEAS, is they
give the DEAs, supposedly, a lot of
authority by the education department.
But then they don’t give them any
resources to do the work with. And then
afterwards they are told no you’re not
able to do what we gave you to do, and
you’re not doing your work well enough.
So we’re going to be doing the work that
you’re supposed to be doing because
you’re unable to do it. The responsibility
is too big for you. They have never even
been given the authority to do the work.

Although I agree with this, what I’'m
scared of is they’ll be formally listed as a
public body, but then afterwards they’ll
be given more responsibility but then no
resources to do the work with. Then it’ll
start from scratch all over again. That
seems to be how it works.

Do you think that if the community
DEAs are recognized as public bodies,
that the resources will be given to them
right away as soon as they’re listed as
public bodies? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Enook.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
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Chairperson. That’s obviously not a
question I’m really in a position to
answer. What | can say, yes, if you’re
going to give the DEAs additional
responsibilities under the Act, they need
the resources to do the work. There is
going to be training involved. | don’t
think it would be onerous, quite frankly,
on the DEA. One DEA might have one
privacy complaint every two or three
years. Then the problem becomes
keeping the expertise in-house.

I’m not saying there aren’t a lot of issues
that wouldn’t have to be resolved if
DEAs were made public bodies, but that
shouldn’t prevent it from happening.
There are all sorts of things that would
have to happen from training to providing
resources to creating more policies. My
recommendation comes solely from the
position of somebody has to be
responsible. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. I think that’s all from Mr. Enook.
Mr. Akoak, you’re next on the list.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Good afternoon. We talked
about a deputy commissioner that you are
going to be hiring. You said this person is
going to be responsible for Nunavut and
the NWT. Being from Nunavut, will you
be hiring somebody from Nunavut to fill
in that position? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. As | said in my opening
remarks, it’s something that I’ve been
kind of considering. Is having that person
situated in Nunavut, obviously would be

P> 2*PCS Ca dA%®IN PY<o
D>SbPa G b L, Aco <D nAbde bNLAYNC
ALPRSC NP SIS PP LU A<UC,
CALc Acn~<Nta® DoN<dcNC

Ac® o< NC>PAHSLST>LC Aba ALeN*NC,
AP Ac®o <D nnbde bNLAY o e b,
QGJ®bA LR A*LA5%GC A LALLC PP<o
INSAPANLENJC Do 5PNG AT,

Ac®o <D nNbdC bNLM oS Do,
dbD>e*P PPN JPCCHNhGLPIAC CAda
Ac®o <D ndbdC LRLbIC NIMPSoe<C.

0%b**<NbGLe+NeDC CLbdo™L

Ao <®NC>N<bGL®IAC

AN\ CPNC>ON“H
DAL RNN T, A,

<DL PPb*o DN .
ADSdr AN RECP b P>dd CIR™SBLIAC
e LN CSb bS5 LE. sdy2al®.

ASYRXPCSe: Sdhoq [® [ Pa® <A, CR MC
A0® ALASLEC AY® CAL MC Gsdqse
P >SS,

qsd<qse (ONANJO): Sdbal™, Ab/DCSe,

D> ohedC. CAL D>SbD>PSb®b>LAC bla <
DN Lo, A, Atba ALSeCNbbLeCegb,
CA%a bLADLY®D% 00 2 <L 0a CN<S?
0a.2TP>C>Hoc a2 TD>C?

APba AL®CNENLALST <P CASAI*L?
sdyeal®, Ab/RPCe®,

Ab/PCSe (OLANJO): Sdy>al™®, C <sg<ds. ™
Pa® <A

Pae <A OLNNNUO): Sdbal™, Ab/RDLCS,
CeRac b LIA®/INo DSb®bPLL, Coa
AFLNSIDPNNILGPIAC S CALS

A®Pba A>*NbHC 0a 2T, 0a 2T

A®ba AF®CNENLL®DIC 00 DD>C>Ho.

58




hired in Nunavut and would live in
Nunavut; To me, in my non-
governmental head, because | don’t work
for government; 1’ve never worked for
government; I’ve always been a
businessperson and | run my own
business so | think ahead in terms of how
can | plan to best transition, and to me,
the best plan for transition would be to
hire this person to work with me but to
work from here. In my best case scenario,
in my best of all worlds, in my happiness
place, the person hired would be from
Nunavut and would work in Nunavut.
There are a lot of things that have to go
into this. The position isn’t even
approved. There’s no job description at
this point. | don’t know if there’s the
expertise within Nunavut or whether
there is somebody who would be willing
to learn what’s necessary to do the job,
but as | said, in my business planning
head, the best case scenario would be to
have somebody, yes.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. On page 12 of your 2015-16
annual report, you provide a breakdown
of the number of files that your office
opened during that fiscal year. According
to your annual report, you received five
privacy breach notifications during the
2015-16 fiscal year, two from the
Department of Health, one each from the
Department of Justice, Executive and
Intergovernmental Affairs, and one from
Nunavut Housing Corporation.

I note that on pages 17 and 18 of your
annual report, you provide a summary of
the review recommendation report that
you issued in response to one of the
breach notifications made by the
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Department of Health.

Can you provide further detail what the
additional breach notifications entailed?
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. My memory doesn’t serve
me as well as it used to in my younger
days. One of them dealt with the jump
drive that went missing in the mail. There
was another one from a health centre that
is still ongoing so I will be writing a
review recommendation on that one but
it’s not complete yet. I think maybe what
I’m going to have to do is take that one
under advisement and get back to you on
that. I could go back to my office and
look them up for you. | don’t have that
information at my fingertips and my
memory won’t bring them back for me
right now. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. I’ll look forward to that
information. Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. On page 12 of your 2015-16
annual report, you indicate that you
received seven formal requests for
comment from public bodies in Nunavut
and three formal requests for comment
from entities outside of the Government
of Nunavut.

Can you provide further detail on what
specific issues you were asked to provide
comments on? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.
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Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | think again I’m going to
have to plead the lack of memory. I will
make a list and get back to you on that
one.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: In a different area, on March
13, 2015, the Government of Nunavut’s
new Privacy Management Manual was
tabled in the Legislative Assembly. This
manual was intended to be “used by all
employees of the Government of
Nunavut to successfully implement the
privacy provisions of the Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy
Act.”

I note that you did not have the
opportunity to review this manual prior to
your September 2015 appearance before
the Standing Committee. Since that date,
have you had the opportunity to review
this manual in detail and, if so, can you
indicate if you have any specific concerns
with the content of this manual? Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Yes, | have. | must say that
I was fairly impressed with it. Were there
any specific things that jumped out at
me? No. That’s not to say that these sorts
of manuals kind of show their worth in
use, as opposed to reading them and say,
“Yeah, that will work.”

Problems sometimes come up when you
look at the policy and you’re faced with a
particular situation that isn’t covered in
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the manual. Those things are going to
happen. It is also going to happen where
there are going to be situations where the
manual says to handle something in a
particular way, and | would disagree with
it because of the particular situation.
Those are the things that | deal with on a
day-to-day basis. I think for the most
part, it’s a really good guide. Is it perfect?
Probably not, but it’s a really good start.
Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | have two questions on
this. Are you satisfied with the contents
of the Government of Nunavut’s new
Privacy Management Manual? What
specific changes, if any, would you
recommend be made to the Government
of Nunavut’s Privacy Management
Manual? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Am | satisfied with the
contents? I’d say, probably yes. I think
it’s thorough. It addresses a lot of the
issues that come up regularly. Would 1
make any changes? Not right now. | think
that over time as it’s used, it’s just like
the Act, over time as we use the Act,
things have come up and I’ve
recommended change.

I think that probably will be the same
with this policy manual. 1t’s a good start,
but it has to be a living organism. It has
to change. It has to be kept up-to-date. It
has to reflect the current reality. For now,
I would say no there is nothing that
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would change. | think I’m fairly safe in
saying that there is nothing in there that I
disagree with in any significant way, but
I think it does have to be kept up-to-date.
Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | just have three more
questions. During your September 2015
appearance before the Standing
Committee, you indicated that the
Department of Family Services consulted
you on issues related to information and
privacy under the Adoption Act and the
Child and Family Services Act. You also
indicated that following these meetings,
you had written lengthy correspondence
to the department “outlining some of the
suggestions that came out of that meeting
and how we could proceed going
forward.” Can you indicate if you have
received a response to that
correspondence and, if so, did the
department’s response satisfy your
concerns? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. I’m not sure that | would
call it a response. What | did receive was
a copy of their final report, which | think
was earlier this year in the early months
of 2016, which outlined the steps that
they had taken to date and were
continuing to take in terms of the
exchange of information and the reason
for the exchange of information.

| think one of the issues was that there
was this legislation that said that the
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department had to share information with
the Inuit organizations and the Inuit
organizations really didn’t know why
they were receiving it or what to do with
it. I think the discussions that have gone
on have kind of clarified that for
everyone a little bit. Now there are
procedures in place for what happens or
who gets the information and what’s
done with it when it’s received. | think
they’re now working on how the Inuit
organizations plan to use that
information.

Yes, we’re progressing. | didn’t receive a
response per se, but I did receive a copy

of that final report and 1I’m satisfied with
the direction that things are going. Thank
you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. With that, what specific
recommendations have you provided to
the Department of Family Services
concerning this issue? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. You’re testing my memory
again, but I recall that I made
recommendations about ensuring that
there were agreements between the
department and Inuit organizations about
the storage and retention of these records
and how and when they would be
destroyed, retention and destruction
protocols, and how to address the privacy
to ensure that once the records had left
the government’s control, there were still
controls in place to protect privacy and
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those were the kinds of recommendations
| made.

I’m satisfied that they have taken those
into account and there are now policies
and protocols in place, as | said, with
respect to security and how the records
are being maintained within the Inuit
organizations. | think they’re probably
still working on retention, schedules, and
that sort of thing, but | do know they’re
talking about it. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. In its recent response to the
Standing Committee’s report on the
Information and Privacy Commissioner’s
2015 appearance, the government stated
that the Department of Family Services is
“continuing its work to develop the
Protocol for Handling Personal
Information Provided to Third Parties
Under the Adoption Act and the Child
and Family Services Act.”

On June 7, 2016, the Minister of Family
Services tabled his department’s update
on the government’s response. In its
update, the department indicated that it
“will complete the Protocol for tabling
during the 2017 Winter Sitting of the
Legislative Assembly.” In your view, is
this timeline reasonable or unreasonable?
That’s it for me, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Akoak.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. It’s more of a political
question than one that is in my kind of
comfort zone. Do | think that it’s
important that these protocols be in place
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as soon as possible? Yes. Do | understand
that these things take time? Yes. Is 2017
a reasonable length of time? | think it
could probably be done sooner than that.

I would like to see it done sooner than
that. I guess that’s as far as | could go.
Would I like to see it be done sooner?
Absolutely. Can it have been done
sooner? It’s not for me to answer. Thank
you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Next on my list is Mr. Okalik.

Mr. Okalik: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. My questions aren’t directly
on the annual report but more in the day-
to-day practice that we encounter now
and again.

In some ministers’ offices when we
contact them on behalf of constituents
who have requested our assistance, they
give us tasks and approval to represent
them on their issues and then the
minister’s office comes back and says:
“can you get your constituents to fill this
form out?” that’s very frustrating. A lot
of times these requests are time sensitive
and we don’t have time to do those things
S0 can you please assist us in informing
those offices that as MLAs, we have a
job to do and the information that is
provided to us is approved already by the
constituent tacitly? We are an oral society
as Inuit so approval orally is the same as
any approval so | would request your
office’s assistance in informing those
ministerial offices, some of them, to
please respect that. Thank you, Mr.
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Okalik. (interpretation ends) Ms.
Keenan Bengts, can you care to respond
to that?
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Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | have in the past more than
once provided, I’m not sure who, maybe
John Quirke, with my interpretation of
what the Act says with respect to that.
I’m more than happy to provide you with
a copy of that and I can also say that |
understand the frustration.

This is not the first time that this has
come up. It comes up in the Northwest
Territories as well and in fact, speaking
with Gary Dickson who was assisting me
with my privacy audit this year and who
was for many years an MLA in Alberta,
he and | discussed this very issue as well
and his frustrations with it so | do
understand and the Act does have
provisions for exactly what you’re
saying, that is MLASs should be able to
get that information.

What | would say is, if and when
possible, and I understand it’s not
possible all of the time, is just get your
constituent to write his name on a
consent form. Other then that, | can
reiterate what I’ve provided as an opinion
to the Legislative Assembly on several
occasions and provide all of the sitting
members with a copy of that if that’s
helpful. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Perhaps you could address it to
me and then I’ll make sure, as the Chair,
that everybody gets a copy. Mr. Okalik.

Mr. Okalik: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Our job is to represent
everyone and some of those constituents
are illiterate. How can we say that the
signed copy is a legally binding copy, for
example? It can be quite challenging at
times. | would ask that I think maybe
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because, as MLAs, we wouldn’t be
dealing with the issue if we didn’t have
the approval of the constituent in a lot of
cases. | find that rather frustrating at
times. Not all offices operate this way,
but some ministerial offices are very
frustrating that way. (interpretation)
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Okalik. |
think that was more of a comment, unless
you want to say anything further to that,
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. The only thing I would say
is that hopefully my opinion on that issue
will assist. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Okay, who did | have next on my
list? Mr. Mapsalak.

Mr. Mapsalak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. I’m going to get into the
municipalities. On page 20 of your 2015-
16 annual report, you state that your
office is “starting to receive more and
more requests that involve municipal
governments.” How many requests
involving municipal governments did you
receive during the 2015-16 fiscal year?
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Mapsalak.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. If my memory serves, there
was one complaint dealing with a
municipality and one issue, I’m trying to
remember whether it was the Northwest
Territories or here. | believe one issue
came up through a news report that came
to my attention, which raised concerns
for me about privacy in a community at
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the community level. | don’t want to say
for certain it was Nunavut, but where
there was a situation in which a by-law
officer decided that he is going to wear a
body camera for all of his activities. It
concerned me, so | wrote a letter to the
municipality. | cannot, for the life of me,
remember right now whether that was
Nunavut or the Northwest Territories.
Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Mapsalak.

Mr. Mapsalak: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Also on page 20 of your
2015-16 annual report, you state that you
“have seen no real progress in ensuring
that municipalities are responsible for
either access or privacy protection.” Can
you explain what specific steps you
believe the government should take that
will demonstrate its commitment to
making progress in this area? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Mapsalak.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | have to say that | believe
that EIA has been fairly aggressive in
trying to get voluntary buy-ins by
municipalities. They haven’t been
successful in that. I think that it’s
probably time to move on to more direct
measures in terms of either adding them
as named public bodies under the current
Act or creating new legislation that deals
only with municipalities because there
may be some differences in terms of how
municipalities would address access or
privacy issues.

At the very least, there has to be
something that compels the communities
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to create access and privacy policies that
are consistent with the Act. It’s a difficult
thing for municipalities. | get that. They
don’t have the expertise on the one hand.
On the other hand, they’re public bodies
that receive public monies, which spend
public monies, which provide contracts to
the locals, and the public has a right to
know how that money is being used, how
municipalities are undertaking their work
on the access side. They also have
responsibility to ensure that the
information they hold about their citizens
is held privately.

I get it that it’s a hard thing to do, and it’s
another burden, but I think it’s a
necessary thing that needs to be done. |
think that you’ll have to ask the
government representative tomorrow
what they’re doing. | think that it’s
probably a time for more aggressive
action on their part. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. (interpretation) Mr. Mapsalak,
any more?

Mr. Mapsalak: Thank you. In its recent
response to the Standing Committee’s
report on your 2014 appearance, the
Government of Nunavut stated that it is
working towards amending the Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy
Act to have it apply to the territory’s three
largest municipalities. What do you think
is a realistic timeframe to bring all
municipal governments in Nunavut under
the legislation? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Mapsalak.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. They will definitely have to
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be some lead up time because they’re
going to have to make sure that the
necessary processes are in place. | would
say probably a year is an appropriate time
to give the municipality to get up and
running and get training necessary.
Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. (interpretation) Is that it?
(interpretation ends) Just before 1 go to
the next name, | just want to ask a quick
question, myself. | have often wondered
about when you apply for a job, or you’re
the one interviewing and then you ask for
references and somebody provides a
reference. So that person who is
interviewing you and may want you for
the job is going to ask some personal
information about your character, or
about how you worked. Even though they
give consent to do that, | am assuming
they’re giving consent by providing a
name for somebody to call. Does the
person providing that consent also have
the right to find out what was said about
them? | pose you that question. Thank
you. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. There is a provision in the
Act, and | don’t know exactly how it’s
worded, but it does protect that kind of
information from disclosure. If | were the
person giving the opinion, and | said to
you, “No, I don’t care who you tell. Go
ahead, tell anybody.” Then it’s fine. If |
say, “Look, | want to be completely
honest with you, would you keep this
quiet? This is between you and me.” |
think, in most cases, that assurance can
be properly given and protected under the
Act. Does that answer the question?

Chairperson: Thank you. | am just
wondering if | was somebody, and | give
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a reference and | said, “Oh, this person,
you might not want to hire this person
because they missed so much time or
they’re always late.” Because | have
heard that that might not be the best thing
to be doing because somebody can come
back and say, “What is it that you said
about me?” So | am just wondering what
you think about all of that. Can
somebody access that information that
was said about them or is that protected?
Thank you. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. No, it’s protected. Under
the Act, it’s protected. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you. My next name
is Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | have a few other
questions. The first one I’ll ask is on the
report to the Legislative Assembly during
the review of the Nunavut Business
Credit Corporation’s annual report and
corporate plans, the Standing Committee
had recommended that the Nunavut
Business Credit Corporation, “fully
disclose the identities of recipients of
loans and other financial assistance
provided to the recipients”. In the
minister’s response, the government
indicated that at the time it wished to
seek a formal review and ruling from
you, the Information and Privacy
Commissioner. Has the government
come to you and said, “we would like to
formally review with you, the disclosure
of practices of the Nunavut Business
Credit Corporation?” Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Joanasie.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.
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Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Not to my recollection. |
will go back to my office and double
check but I’m fairly certain they haven’t
asked me that question.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Interesting answer. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie (interpretation): Thank
you. With the government response such
as that, would you be able to do a review
with them on what needs to be done for
them to move forward? We know that
some of your recommendations have not
been carried out. Perhaps you can come
up with considerations with them to see
what else needs to be done? Thank you.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Joanasie. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | can say that after my
appearance last year | went back and |
looked more clearly at the legislation
which establishes the Business Credit
Corporation and the Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy
Act. There’s nothing in those two pieces
of legislation right now that prevents
them from doing what you’re asking be
done, that is the disclosure of the name of
the person who received funding and the
amount of funding received and even the
community. What the Business Credit
Corporation is not allowed to do is to
disclose information they receive from
the applicant. So they can’t disclose the
information that’s in an application form
but a loan granted isn’t information
received so they can disclose that
information should they choose to do so.
It’s all in the legal interpretation of the
two Acts and | don’t believe that there is
anything in the two Acts read together
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that prevents the disclosure of that kind
of basic information. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. We were wondering and that was
an important issue to us. Mr. Joanasie.

Mr. Joanasie: Thank you. Now it’s
completely understandable and |
interpreted it the way you interpreted it, |
believe. I’d like to move onto another
area and that’s under the ATIPP Act.

Section 37 states that an applicant or
third party may appeal a decision made
by a head of a public body to the
Nunavut Court of Justice. However, this
section provides that the Information and
Privacy Commissioner “is not a party to
an appeal.” You previously made
recommendations that any amendments
to the Act allow for the appeal of any
decision made by a departmental head or
public body to the courts.

In the government’s most recent response
to your report of 2015, the GN stated that
its “next consultation with the
Information and Privacy Commissioner
will include the right of the
Commissioner to appeal a decision to the
Nunavut Court of Justice.” Can you
indicate if any consultation on this matter
has taken place and, if so, what were the
outcomes of the discussions? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Joanasie.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. We definitely have been
talking about this issue. | don’t think |
would call it a formal consultation, but
we have talked about it a lot on an
informal basis about how it will look and
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what the options are.

I can say that since | was last here, the
Newfoundland and Labrador legislation
has come into effect and I kind of like the
way they do things there. I like the fact
that the government is the one that has to
take things to court if they don’t like the
recommendations made. That wasn’t
something | had thought of at the time.

Have there been ongoing discussions?
The answer is yes. What has come of
them? 1 think that’s a question probably
better answered by the government
representatives’ tomorrow, who know
where they’re at on that. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. (interpretation) Are you done?
(interpretation ends) Okay. Next on my
list is Mr. Alex Sammurtok.

Mr. Alexander Sammurtok
(interpretation): Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. (interpretation ends) On
page 21 of your 2015-16 annual report,
you indicate that you are concerned “that
those who work in the GN are not yet
fully aware of the obligations imposed on
them to report breaches” and that “Every
employee who deals in anyway with
personal information should be receiving
at least basic training about how to
recognize a breach of privacy and what to
do when a breach happens.”

Testimony provided by government
witnesses during its September 2015
appearance before this Standing
Committee indicated that Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy
Act training is mandatory “For public
bodies designating an ATIPP
coordinator.”
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Can you indicate if you have had the
opportunity to review the Access to
Information and Protection of Privacy
Act training program that the Department
of Executive and Intergovernmental
Affairs provides to government
employees and, if so, does this training
program include information on breach
notification requirements? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Sammurtok. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | have, in fact, participated
in some of those training sessions from
time to time, but I’m not entirely sure
that it’s mandatory for all employees. |
know that it’s mandatory for the ATIPP
coordinators. The question is: have | seen
the materials? | haven’t necessarily seen
the materials. | participated in the
training. Is it adequate? What | would
like to see is some very basic training
that’s mandatory as part of any new
employee’s orientation. | don’t think that
happens. | stand to be corrected, and the
government representatives’ tomorrow
can maybe correct me if I’m wrong. My
understanding is that it’s open to anybody
who wants to take it, but it’s not
mandatory.

What | would like to see is something
that is mandatory for all new government
employees as part of their orientation.
Many people don’t even recognize what a
breach of privacy is. For example, let’s
say somebody in Income Assistance in a
small office sees on a computer that his
neighbour or brother or somebody ... .
He happens to walk by somebody’s
computer and sees his brother’s name on
a screen, that’s a privacy breach because
he doesn’t need to see that information
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for doing his job. He happened to see it
because it wasn’t well protected when he
was walking by. That’s not a major
breach, but it is a breach. I don’t think a
lot of people really recognize what a
breach of privacy is. Even that basic
training is to be able to recognize what a
breach is.

I have only received seven breach
notifications. We’re all human. Every
government employee is human. | can
almost guarantee you that there are
breaches of privacy every day, big ones,
probably not. But there are breaches of
privacy within government every day,
and yet | have only received in two years,
I think it’s seven or eight, breach
notifications. Those ones that I received

were big and obvious, like really obvious.

Unless you recognize a breach, you can’t
even assess whether it’s a big one or a
little one. So that’s the kind of training |
would like to see happening at the intake
level. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Sammurtok.

Mr. Sammurtok (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. (interpretation
ends) In your response you said that the
training should be given to all new
government employees. In your view,
should the training be mandatory for all
government employees? Thank you,
Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr.
Sammurtok. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | guess I’m assuming that
eventually that will mean everyone has
training. Yes, | think basic baseline
training on what access and privacy

PY<do ASATDLE AL%a SbP>NLec CCSda*PLLC
D>o%IC AGATST® ALT_*L<o® DNLPho.

Ac®o < NCPIAQ®Do Ach®/asLe Ao
ASATDLLLS,

doyD>ALYML 7-DA%aSob ASATSIC
sb>AbAJNGT®. AP 5IA*a PLEC AdaC.
LLPIC ASba AYXPNCLS AP 5DA%a DLTYAC,
Db CCPatLnCD*L SbP>CLE b*Ja e NC>Ya®
APATPCIb®LLLE, QLN LD SedeDse,
PP<doc LRLYC Ao Sb>CLC
b**Ja e NCP>Yo® ASAT®CCHA>a <5
LSPA*Q.T“ SOAYADIL DY DPD>a® LSPo,
7-0<5P<% 8-0“ 5P ASATSI*LLob. Cbd<dc
>R oC PSHPCHYC C+N<ENNHLC

Draa DL N D> HN“H. AL*a ASATST®
ShENMLEYPIAPAC I+ L OLE TPL H®LE
Db/ *o PP/doc Ac®od®NNoe CL%a
CdYLLY®CS ASba Abc®<c<¥of. sdyeal®.

AP/ XPCSe OLNNYO): Sdbeal®, ™ Pa® <AL,
MC \LseDse,

LL]S5DS6 (DRANJC): sdyeal®, Ab/PCSe,
P>*NNMLSo Cbdo*L ASba Aot oCcl.of
Acto<d®NC>os, PY<do C>ICP IS oa 2¢
LLbIC ASba ALeNcL* o

Ao <PCPNCPYAdc®. sdyeal®, Ab/PCSe,

APYRPCSe OLNMNJO): dyal®, MC N®D%,
M Pa® <A

Pa <A OLNNNUO): Sdbal™, Ab/RDLCS,
AFLDA%Q D, A CAL®a

Ao <SeYLIATQ DGLE YN, AL
AP<PCP>ONP Lea <IDA%QSbSos I b*Ja Do

AT % Noc Cedo*L Acta<d®CDrn<c®

77




legislation is should be mandatory for all
government employees. Is that realistic?
Maybe not. Maybe it could be nuanced a
bit to say that to say that anyone who
deals with personal information should
have training.

Again, I realize that it may be a capacity
issue in a small community. For a hire in
a small community it may be difficult to
get this training for this person. There
should be a basic orientation package that
includes, like I said, the basics. Thank
you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. So we’re going to the next name
on the list. Mr. Shooyook.

Mr. Shooyook (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. In short, I need
some elaboration on page 28 in Family
Services. This is a safety issue on the
adoption of children. | remember in
September 2015, when you were in front
of the Standing Committee, you indicated
that Family Services had talked to you
about information and privacy issues
concerning adoption legislation. What |
would like to understand is: in your
discussions with the Department of
Family Services about the legislation we
work with today, did they indicate if
there were problems in working with it?
Did they mention anything that needed to
be changed in adoption issues? What did
the Department of Family Services say to
you when you asked for information?
Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Shooyook. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. The issues that | discussed
with Family Services were really based
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on the legislation as it exists. There are
two pieces of legislation, the Adoption
Act and the Child and Family Services
Act, I think it is, which require notice to
be given to the Inuit organizations when
a child is apprehended under the child
welfare system and when there’s an
adoption. We were working with existing
legislation that said that some
information, considerable information in
some cases, had to be given to the Inuit
organizations when either of these things
happened.

I think there was confusion about what
the Inuit organizations were doing with it
or going to do with it or should be doing
with it once they got it. Those weren’t the
issues that we were dealing with. | was
dealing with the issues of the legislation
says, “This has to happen,” and how can
we do it in the most privacy protective
way possible and those were the issues |
discussed with them. I did not discuss
with them the purpose of the exchange of
information or why the legislation is the
way it is. We were focused only on “How
can we comply with the legislation in the
least privacy invasive way?”

That probably doesn’t answer your
question, but we just didn’t deal with the
why’s behind it. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Shooyook.

Mr. Shooyook (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. | understand
that. The reason why 1I’m asking this is
that | understand there are two ways to
adopt: you can adopt a newborn baby
from the biological parents and then there
is the foster child. If the parents are not
taking proper care of their child, then
Family Services can take that child away.
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Can you please help me understand if the
work you’re doing is towards infant
adoption or foster children? Can you
clarify which one you are actually
working on? Thank you, Madam
Chairperson.

Chairperson (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Shooyook. Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. | almost feel like taking off
my Information and Privacy
Commissioner hat and putting on my old
family law hat back on.

You’re quite right. There are two kinds of
adoptions and one is a departmental
adoption where a child has been in care. |
believe, if I’m not mistaken, that the
legislation requires consultation with the
Inuit organizations in either case. It
doesn’t matter whether it’s a private
adoption or a departmental adoption. In
both cases, | believe that consultation is
necessary. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Shooyook, do you have any
more questions? (interpretation ends) |
don’t believe | have any more names on
my list. Ah, Mr. Qirngnug.

Mr. Qirngnugq (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. | thought | was
becoming invisible; you kept passing me.

A question | wanted to ask was
mentioned earlier and | want clarification
on it and that’s why I’m asking it again in
regard to health and privacy, the health
department dealing with private matters.
In Nunavut and the NWT, people from
Nunavut have to go for care in Alberta,
Manitoba, and Ontario. Is their privacy
legislation similar or the same as ours?
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Thank you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Thank you, Mr. Qirngnug.
Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. It’s a really good question
and one we struggle with all the time.
Every jurisdiction but for Nunavut and
BC, kind of. BC has legislation but not
the same kind of legislation as everyone
else. Every Canadian jurisdiction has
health privacy legislation now except for
Nunavut. Yukon’s came into effect
August 29 of this year. So they now have
it too.

Is it exactly the same in each jurisdiction?
No. Are there privacy protections in place
for health information in each
jurisdiction? Yes, except for Nunavut. |
understand that there are contracts in
place between Nunavut and other
jurisdictions to which patients normally
go. Ontario and the Northwest Territories
have provisions with respect to privacy
and personal health information. Let’s
say a patient from Cambridge Bay is sent
to Yellowknife; the personal health
information of that patient is created in
the Northwest Territories that is in the
Northwest Territories is going to be
subject to the Northwest Territories’
Health Information Act.

Yes, there is health privacy information
in each jurisdiction. Can you survive
without it, in terms of inter-jurisdictional
exchange of information? Yes, but it’s
more difficult, because you have to have
the privacy contracts in place.

One of the legitimately important reasons
for health information legislation is to
allow for that kind of exchange of health
information between jurisdiction, not

LAMOLE? CALML DPPY<IPLEL. SdYal™,
AN RD>CSb,

Ab/XPCSe (OLNNJC): Sgb>al™ MC SPeyso,
[P Pa <A™,

Pae <A OLNNUC): Sdvtal™ APYRPCS. A,
AAPINNL 58 Ca. Ca
DPPLSaol L e D%, g CZLACLENC
0a.2¢ Ac dGsdbb H®Io >Nt

b LALMDCASCDSe pPesPCLo
LcLsbsTELo<e <a Py >N+t Prdac
ba.Clr oP<®CP>ILACLENC Ac bdC
deodbSa D oI DG Lo

beJa Dol Lcbee. dbe, <GLd 29-%J<5J
C3Ra GJN*g LLPe NN >STRE,

Lo ndoNR oPd®eC>I/LAC Lo, <'LA PP<o
N>YAJNo® GPPCNALYLYAC bJa %D o, A bdC
o PRCD>ILADNT. 00 2C PY<o
ASBE*PCDD® 2. DPA/LIL®DILAC P
beDGbab G®PCNAYLICibT™LE 0a D¢

LLEI* M0 <L IP*N 0f gP<eCYLADY of
QNP> 0a W< NNGSbY DN ILoC

beJa Do TC PsbP>/sb®Ia®. CLbd<c
Ao%a® ARNECS DPbeaPNNP Y AC
>EONNOJ ASboe NS >C®
Jeodic<io®be L 5o Al CALc Cbd<

QA N®CHNC Geo A <TbeCS Y Lo n e

0a. %< NNGHCH/Leos*LC 0a SP<TLLC,
CALc 0a /<< LcbaNeg®

L an sbedAeOC,

CALc A, 4*odsbSa **MDcnos]c DG La®
o PRC>ILACLYUNTC APLENSAC AL
CDe/SDCP 5L SHECG <N HNC
AYDECACLYND>R? A, beDSede
<+PSbNPJINNJIC bLNNG® <I*Pse/LLLC,
LPSbNMYLLLC. bLSbCCo<SaGseDNe,

AC*LECD® C3R ALLACDY ANNPSD®
ARN“C AP Goa<Sbia ** M nosIC
Lclsbn<sbon R CALADC™® b**Ja Ia®
Q “cPCP>"PbCNbP*an<b5*LC,

81




only within the hospital, but between
jurisdictions; not only from a health
centre to a hospital, but from the
telehealth doctor in Ontario talking about
a patient in the Northwest Territories.
The way health information travels is just
mind boggling and difficult to follow. It’s
also important that they be able to
exchange it.

I’m going on and on about the
importance of health privacy legislation
and all you really asked is it in every
jurisdiction. The short answer is yes. The
long answer is more this is why we need
it here. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you, Ms. Keenan
Bengts. Mr. Qirngnug.

Mr. Qirngnug (interpretation): Thank
you, Madam Chairperson. Yes, that
makes it clearer now. | understand your
response. That’s good to hear. | don’t
have many questions. Some of my other
questions were already addressed.
Another question that was posed by my
colleague, Mr. Shooyook touches on his
previous question and also in your
response about privacy legislation that
were taken from the Europeans initially.
We still follow the European way in
Canada. Are you looking to the future to
see what that the future of that will look
like? To add Inuit Qaujimajatugangit,
Inuit’s ways, to it is very important to the
health department as well and the
education and workers in general. Thank
you, Madam Chairperson.

Chairperson: Ms. Keenan Bengts.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. The direction that any
future legislation takes is obviously a
policy matter for governments and for
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you guys to decide. It’s certainly not for
me to decide. Do | think that it’s
important to incorporate Inuit values into
this legislation? Yes, to a degree. The
problem is that this legislation deals with
the modern world and commerce and
identity theft and all of the dangers of
dealing on a day-to-day basis with
businesses on the internet and I’m afraid
those two concepts might clash to a
degree, the Inuit values and the modern
day need for privacy legislation. So in the
end, the direction that legislation goes is
obviously a policy matter that has to be
dealt with by this Legislative Assembly.
It’s not for me to say. Do | think that it’s
important to incorporate Inuit values to
the extent that they can be? Yes, but we
can’t do that at the expense of putting
Nunavummiut at risk for being taken
advantage of in the electronic world we
live in. Thank you.

Chairperson: Thank you very much, Ms.
Keenan. I think in recognizing the clock,
I think this has been a very productive
afternoon and very informative and 1’d
like to invite you to say your closing
comments.

Ms. Keenan Bengts: Thank you, Madam
Chairperson. Time flies when you’re
having fun.

As always, | would like to thank the
Legislative Assembly for your very
pointed questions and your interest in
what | do. It makes a lot of difference to
me when | know | have the support and
the backing of this Committee which |
feel that | have in the work that | do and |
look forward to keeping on doing the
work that | love doing for the next few
years on your behalf and we’ll see you
next year or maybe earlier than that if |
get to appear before you to talk about my
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privacy audit.

Chairperson: Thank you very much and
I’d like to thank you for coming in this
afternoon and taking the time to talk to us
about the reports and the activities that
you’ve done. With that mind and just
looking at the clock, I’d like to adjourn.
Tomorrow we will be back at 9:00.
Thank you.

>>Committee adjourned at 16:53
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